VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP Form DEF 14A April 26, 2013 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101)

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant | Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

Preliminary Proxy Statement

Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

Definitive Proxy Statement

Definitive Additional Materials

Soliciting Material Pursuant to Rule 14a-12

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

$(Name\ of\ Person(s)\ Filing\ Proxy\ Statement, if\ Other\ Than\ the\ Registrant)$

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):					
þ	No f	ee required.			
	Fee o	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.			
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:			
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:			
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies.			
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):			
	(1)				
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:			
	(5)	Total fee paid:			

Fee paid previously with preliminary materials:

	ck box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
(1)	Amount Previously Paid:
(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3)	Filing Party:
(4)	Date Filed:

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

23 MAIN STREET

HOLMDEL, NJ 07733

April 26, 2013

Dear Stockholders,

We are pleased to invite you to attend the annual meeting of stockholders of Vonage Holdings Corp. to be held on Thursday, June 6, 2013 at 10:00 a.m., local time. For your convenience, we are pleased that our annual meeting will be a completely virtual meeting, conducted via a live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013. You will be able to attend our annual meeting, vote your shares electronically and submit questions during the annual meeting. Details regarding admission to the meeting and the business to be conducted are provided in the accompanying Notice of 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement. Included with the Proxy Statement is a copy of our 2012 annual report, including our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 (without exhibits). We encourage you to read our 2012 annual report, which includes our audited financial statements and information about our operations, markets, and products.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the annual meeting, we hope you will vote as soon as possible. You may vote over the Internet, as well as by telephone or by mailing a proxy or voting instruction card. Voting over the Internet, by telephone or by proxy or by providing voting instructions to your broker, trustee or nominee will ensure your representation at the annual meeting regardless of whether you attend. Please review the instructions on the proxy or voting instruction card regarding each of these voting options.

Also, if you plan to attend our annual meeting please see the admission instructions set forth in the Notice of 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Thank you for your ongoing support of Vonage. We look forward to your participation in our annual meeting.

Sincerely,

Marc P. Lefar

Chief Executive Officer

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

23 MAIN STREET

HOLMDEL, NJ 07733

NOTICE OF 2013 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Time and Date 10:00 a.m., local time, on Thursday, June 6, 2013

Place via live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013

Items of Business At the meeting, we will ask you and our other stockholders to:

- (1) elect three Class I directors for terms to expire at the 2016 annual meeting of stockholders;
- (2) ratify the recent election of one Class III director for a term to expire at the 2015 annual meeting of stockholders;
- (3) ratify the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013;
- (4) approve the amendment and restatement of our 2006 Incentive Plan to increase the maximum number of shares available for issuance; and
- (5) ratify the extension of our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan.

The stockholders will also act on any other business as may properly come before the meeting or any postponement or adjournment of the meeting. The board of directors has no knowledge of any other business to be transacted at the annual meeting.

You may vote if you were a stockholder of record at the close of business on April 12, 2013. A list of these stockholders will be open for examination by any stockholder for any purpose germane to the 2013 annual meeting for a period of 10 days prior to the meeting at our principal executive offices at 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733, and electronically during the 2013 annual meeting at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013 when you enter your 12-Digit Control

Table of Contents 5

Number.

Record Date

Proxy Voting

It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the meeting. If you are a stockholder of record and do not plan to attend the meeting, please mark, sign, date and promptly mail your proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid envelope or vote over the Internet or by telephone. You may revoke your proxy at any time before its exercise at the meeting. If you do not hold your shares of record and you do not plan to attend the meeting, please follow the instructions provided by your broker, trustee or other nominee to ensure that your shares are voted.

By order of the Board of Directors, Kurt M. Rogers, Corporate Secretary

April 26, 2013

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for Our

Annual Meeting of Stockholders to Be Held on June 6, 2013

The accompanying proxy statement and our 2012 annual report to stockholders are available at http://ir.vonage.com/

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION	Page No
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND THE ANNUAL MEETING	1
O: What information is contained in this proxy statement?	1
Q: What shares can I vote?	1
O: How many votes am I entitled to per share?	1
Q: What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?	2
O: How can I attend the annual meeting?	2
O: How can I vote my shares without attending the annual meeting?	2 3
O: Can I change my vote?	
O: How many shares must be present or represented to conduct business at the annual meeting?	3 3
Q: What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals? O: What is the effect of not casting a vote?	4
O: What happens if additional matters are presented at the annual meeting?	4
O: Who will serve as inspector of elections?	4
O: What should I do if I receive more than one set of voting materials?	4
O: What is householding and how do I revoke my consent to the householding program?	5
Q: How may I obtain an additional copy of our 2012 annual report and proxy materials?	5
O: Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the annual meeting?	5
O: What is the deadline to propose actions for consideration at the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate	3
individuals to serve as directors?	6
<u>maiviauais to serve as afrectors:</u>	Ü
PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	7
<u>General</u>	7
Board Composition and Nominees	7
Nominees for Terms Expiring in 2016 (Class I Directors)	8
Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2014 (Class II Directors)	9
<u>Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2015 (Class III Directors)</u>	10
<u>Transactions with Related Persons</u>	11
Recommendation of our Board of Directors	12
PROPOSAL NO. 2 RATIFICATION OF ELECTION OF STEPHEN FISHER TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	13
General	13
Recommendation of our Board of Directors	13
PROPOSAL NO. 3 RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	14
<u>General</u>	14
Auditors Fees	14
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures	14
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	15
PROPOSAL NO. 4 APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF OUR 2006 INCENTIVE PLAN TO	
INCREASE THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE	16
<u>General</u>	16
Summary of 2006 Incentive Plan	16
Federal Income Tax Information	20
New Plan Benefits	20
Recommendation of the Roard of Directors	20

i

Table of Contents

PROPOSAL NO. 5 RATIFICATION OF THE EXTENSION OF OUR TAX BENEFITS PRESERVATION PLAN	21
<u>Background</u>	21
Summary of the Rights Agreement	22
Certain Considerations Related to the Rights Agreement	24
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	25
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	26
Governance Principles	26
Board Leadership Structure	26
Risk Management	27
Board Determination of Independence	27
Board Meetings and Attendance	28
Director Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders	28
Director Retirement Age	28
Directors Changing Their Present Job Responsibilities	28
Board Committees	29
Audit Committee	29
Compensation Committee	30
Nominating and Governance Committee	31
Director Nomination Process	31
Communicating with the Independent Directors	32
Codes of Conduct	32
Audit Committee Report	32
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	33
Compensation Committee Report	33
	
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	34
<u>COMPENSATION</u>	36
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	36
Executive Summary	36
Compensation Objectives	38
Engagement of Compensation Consultant	38
Determination of Competitive Compensation	39
Employment Arrangements with our Named Executive Officers	39
Salaries	40
Annual Cash Bonuses	40
Long-Term Incentives	43
Perquisites Perquisites	44
Equity Grant Practices	45
Post-Employment Compensation	45
Tax Considerations	46
Stock Ownership Guidelines for Executives	46
Claw-back and Hedging Policies	47
Consideration of Say-on-Pay Voting Results	47
Summary Compensation Table	48
Grants of Plan-Based Awards 2012	50
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2012	51
Option Exercises and Stock Vested 2012	52
Impact of Compensation Policies on Risk Management	53
Potential Post-Employment Payments	53
Employment and Related Agreements	54
Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change-in-Control	58

ii

Table of Contents

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION	59
Cash Compensation Paid to Board Members	59
Equity-Based Grants to Board Members and Stock Ownership Guidelines for Directors	59
2012 Director Compensation	60
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION	61
STOCK OWNERSHIP INFORMATION	62
SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	65

iii

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

23 MAIN STREET

HOLMDEL, N.J 07733

PROXY STATEMENT

GENERAL INFORMATION

For Our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 6, 2013

Vonage Holdings Corp. (referred to as we, us, our, the company, or Vonage in this document) has sent you this proxy statement and the enceproxy card because our board of directors is soliciting your proxy to vote at our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The annual meeting will be held on Thursday, June 6, 2013, at 10:00 a.m., local time, via live webcast at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013. If the annual meeting is adjourned or postponed for any reason, the proxies may be used at any adjournments or postponements of the annual meeting. A replay of the webcast will be available on the Investor Relations section of our website through June 30, 2013.

This proxy statement summarizes information about the proposals to be considered at the annual meeting and other information you may find useful in determining how to vote. We are mailing this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card to stockholders on or about April 26, 2013. We are also enclosing a copy of our annual report, including our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 (without exhibits). We sometimes refer to the year ended December 31, 2012 as fiscal year 2012 in this proxy statement.

OTHER INFORMATION

Our Form 10-K for fiscal year 2012, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, which includes our audited financial statements, is available free of charge on the Investor Relations section of our website at http://ir.vonage.com/ or through the SEC s electronic data system at www.sec.gov. To request a printed copy of our Form 10-K (without exhibits), which we will provide to you free of charge, you may: write to Vonage s Investor Relations Department at Vonage Holdings Corp., 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733 or call us at 732.365.1328 or send an email through the Vonage Investor Relations website at http://ir.vonage.com/.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND THE ANNUAL MEETING

Q: What information is contained in this proxy statement?

A: The information in this proxy statement relates to the proposals to be voted on at the annual meeting, the voting process, the compensation of our directors and most highly paid executive officers in 2012, and certain other required information.

Q: What shares can I vote?

A: Each share of Vonage common stock issued and outstanding as of the close of business on April 12, 2013, which we refer to as the Record Date, is entitled to vote on all items being voted on at the annual meeting. You may vote all shares owned by you as of the Record Date, including (1) shares held directly in your name as the *stockholder of record* and (2) shares held for you as the *beneficial owner in street name* through a broker, trustee or other nominee such as a bank. On the Record Date, we had 212,434,614 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.

Q: How many votes am I entitled to per share?

A: Each holder of shares of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held as of the Record Date.

1

Q: What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

A: Most Vonage stockholders hold their shares through a broker, trustee or other nominee rather than directly in their own name. As summarized below, there are some distinctions between shares held of record and those owned beneficially.

Stockholder of Record

If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, you are considered, with respect to those shares, the *stockholder of record*, and these proxy materials are being sent directly to you by Vonage. As the *stockholder of record*, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to Vonage or to vote in person at the annual meeting. We have enclosed or sent a proxy card for you to use.

Beneficial Owner

If your shares are held in a brokerage account or by a trustee or other nominee, you are considered the *beneficial owner* of shares held *in street name*, and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you together with a voting instruction card by your broker, trustee or nominee, as the case may be. As the *beneficial owner*, you have the right to direct your broker, trustee or nominee how to vote, and you are also invited to attend the annual meeting.

Since a *beneficial owner* is not the *stockholder of record*, you may not vote your shares in person at the annual meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy from the broker, trustee or nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares at the meeting. Your broker, trustee or other nominee can provide you information on how to obtain a legal proxy. Your broker, trustee or nominee has enclosed or provided voting instructions for you to use in directing the broker, trustee or other nominee how to vote your shares.

Q: How can I attend and vote at the annual meeting?

A: You are entitled to attend the annual meeting only if you were a Vonage stockholder or joint holder as of the Record Date, the close of business on April 12, 2013, or you hold a valid proxy for the annual meeting. We will be hosting the 2013 annual meeting live via webcast. A summary of the information you need to attend the annual meeting online is provided below:

Any stockholder can attend the 2013 annual meeting live via the Internet at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013

Webcast starts at 10:00 a.m. local time

Stockholders may vote and submit questions while attending the annual meeting on the Internet

Please have your 12-Digit Control Number to enter the annual meeting

Instructions on how to attend and participate via the Internet, including how to demonstrate proof of stock ownership, are posted at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013

Assistance with questions regarding how to attend and participate via the Internet will be provided at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/VG2013 on the day of the annual meeting

Webcast replay of the annual meeting will be available until June 30, 2013

Q: How can I vote my shares without attending the annual meeting?

A: Whether you hold shares directly as the stockholder of record or beneficially in street name, you may direct how your shares are voted without attending the annual meeting. If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote by submitting a proxy. If you hold shares beneficially in street name, you may vote by submitting

2

Table of Contents

voting instructions to your broker, trustee or nominee. For directions on how to vote, please refer to the instructions below and those included on your proxy card or, for shares held beneficially in street name, the voting instruction card provided by your broker, trustee or nominee.

By Internet Stockholders of record of Vonage common stock with Internet access may submit proxies by following the VOTE BY INTERNET instructions on their proxy cards until 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on June 5, 2013. Most Vonage stockholders who hold shares beneficially in street name may vote by accessing the website specified on the voting instruction cards provided by their brokers, trustees or nominees. Please check the voting instruction card for Internet voting availability.

By Telephone Stockholders of record of Vonage common stock who live in the United States or Canada may submit proxies by following the VOTE BY TELEPHONE instructions on their proxy cards until 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, June 5, 2013. Most Vonage stockholders who hold shares beneficially in street name and live in the United States or Canada may vote by phone by calling the number specified on the voting instruction cards provided by their brokers, trustees or nominees. Please check the voting instruction card for telephone voting availability.

By Mail Stockholders of record of Vonage common stock may submit proxies by completing, signing and dating their proxy cards and mailing them in the accompanying pre-addressed envelopes. Proxy cards submitted by mail must be received by the time of the meeting in order for your shares to be voted. Vonage stockholders who hold shares beneficially in street name may vote by mail by completing, signing and dating the voting instruction cards provided by their brokers, trustees or nominees and mailing them in the accompanying pre-addressed envelopes.

Q: Can I change my vote?

A: You may change your vote at any time prior to the vote at the annual meeting. If you are the stockholder of record, you may change your vote by granting a new proxy bearing a later date (which automatically revokes the earlier proxy) using any of the methods described above (and until the applicable deadline for each method), by providing a written notice of revocation to Vonage s Corporate Secretary at Vonage Holdings Corp., 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733 prior to your shares being voted, or by attending the annual meeting on the Internet and voting. Attendance at the meeting on the Internet will not cause your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you specifically so request. For shares you hold beneficially in street name, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your broker, trustee or nominee following the instruction it has provided, or, if you have obtained a legal proxy from your broker or nominee giving you the right to vote your shares, by attending the meeting and voting while attending the annual meeting on the Internet.

O: How many shares must be present or represented to conduct business at the annual meeting?

A: The quorum requirement for holding the annual meeting and transacting business is that holders of a majority of the voting power of the issued and outstanding common stock of Vonage must be present in person or represented by proxy. Broker non-votes (described below) are counted for the purpose of determining the presence of a quorum.

Q: What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals?

A: Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast. This means that the three Class I candidates for election as directors receiving the highest number of FOR votes will be elected. Stockholders cannot cumulate votes in the election of directors. Votes withheld and broker non-votes are not considered votes cast on this proposal and will not have any effect on the election of directors.

The proposal to ratify the election of one Class III director requires the affirmative FOR vote of a majority of those shares present in person or represented by proxy and voting on the proposal at the annual meeting. Abstentions are considered votes cast and, accordingly, will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

3

Table of Contents

The proposal to ratify the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm requires the affirmative FOR vote of a majority of those shares present in person or represented by proxy and voting on the proposal at the annual meeting. Abstentions are considered votes cast and, accordingly, will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

The proposal to approve the amendment and restatement of our 2006 Incentive Plan requires the affirmative FOR vote of a majority of those shares present in person or represented by proxy and voting on the proposal at the annual meeting. Abstentions are considered votes cast and, accordingly, will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

The proposal to ratify the extension of our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan requires the affirmative FOR vote of a majority of those shares present in person or represented by proxy and voting on the proposal at the annual meeting. Abstentions are considered votes cast and, accordingly, will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

Q: What is the effect of not casting a vote?

A: If you hold shares beneficially in street name and do not provide your broker with voting instructions, your shares may constitute broker non-votes. Generally, broker non-votes occur on a matter when a broker is not permitted to vote on that matter without instructions from the beneficial owner and instructions are not given. Under New York Stock Exchange rules, brokers would have discretionary voting power with respect to ratification of BDO USA, LLP, but not for the election of directors, ratification of the election of directors, the approval of the amendment and restatement of our 2006 Incentive Plan, or the approval of the extension of our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan. We encourage you to provide instructions to your broker, trustee or other nominee regarding the voting of your shares.

If you are a stockholder of record and do not return a proxy card, no votes will be cast on your behalf on any of the items of business at the annual meeting. If you are a stockholder of record and return your proxy card but it does not indicate any voting instructions, such proxy will be voted FOR the election of all director nominees named in this proxy statement, FOR the ratification of the election of one Class III director, FOR the proposal to ratify of BDO USA, LLP, FOR the approval of the amendment and restatement of our 2006 Incentive Plan, and FOR the ratification of the extension of our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan.

O: What happens if additional matters are presented at the annual meeting?

A: Other than the items of business described in this proxy statement, we are not aware of any other business to be acted upon at the annual meeting. If you grant a proxy, the persons named as proxy holders will have the discretion to vote your shares on any additional matters properly presented for a vote at the meeting. If for any reason any of our nominees is not available as a candidate for director, the persons named as proxy holders will vote your proxy for such other candidate or candidates as may be nominated by our board of directors.

Q: Who will serve as inspector of elections?

A: The inspector of elections will be a representative from Broadridge Investor Communications Services.

Q: What should I do if I receive more than one set of voting materials?

A: You may receive more than one set of voting materials, including multiple copies of this proxy statement and multiple proxy cards or voting instruction cards. For example, if you hold your shares in more than one brokerage account, you may receive a separate voting instruction card for each brokerage account in which you hold shares. If you are a stockholder of record and your shares are registered in more than one name, you will receive more than one proxy card. Please complete, sign, date and return each Vonage proxy card and voting instruction card that you receive.

Table of Contents

Q: What is householding and how do I revoke my consent to the householding program?

A: Vonage has adopted a method of delivery for its proxy materials and annual report called householding. Under this method, we deliver only one copy of the proxy materials and annual report to one or more stockholders who share the same last name and address, unless such stockholders have notified us that they wish to continue to receive multiple copies. Vonage adopted the householding method to reduce the amount of duplicative material that its stockholders receive and to lower printing and mailing costs. Householding is in effect for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and will remain in effect for all future annual meetings.

If you are a registered stockholder who previously received multiple copies and wish to continue to receive multiple copies of our proxy materials at the same address, additional copies will be provided to you upon request. You may request multiple copies by notifying us in writing or verbally that you wish to opt out of the householding program at:

Vonage Investor Relations

23 Main Street

Holmdel, NJ 07733

732.365.1328

You may opt out of householding at any time 30 days prior to the mailing of proxy materials. If you own our common stock in street name (such as through a broker), please notify your broker if you wish to continue to receive multiple copies of the proxy materials.

Stockholders who share an address and receive multiple copies of our annual report, including our Form 10-K, and proxy materials can request to receive a single copy of these materials and notices of Internet availability of proxy materials (if applicable) in the future by following the instructions above. Stockholders can also revoke their consent and receive separate copies of these documents in the future by following the instructions above.

O: How may I obtain an additional copy of our 2012 annual report and proxy materials?

A: Any stockholder may request additional copies of our annual report, including our Form 10-K (without exhibits), and proxy materials by sending an e-mail through the Vonage Investor Relations website at http://ir.vonage.com/, calling 732.365.1328 or writing to:

Vonage Investor Relations

23 Main Street

Holmdel, NJ 07733

We will promptly deliver the requested copies. Current and prospective investors can access or order free copies of our annual report, including our Form 10-K (without exhibits) and proxy statement by following these same instructions.

Q: Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the annual meeting?

A: Vonage is making this solicitation and will pay the entire cost of preparing, assembling, printing, mailing, and distributing these proxy materials and soliciting votes. If you choose to access the proxy materials or vote over the Internet, you are responsible for Internet access charges you may incur. If you choose to vote by telephone, you are responsible for telephone charges you may incur. In addition to the mailing of these proxy materials, the solicitation of proxies or votes may be made in person, by telephone or by electronic communication by our directors, officers, and employees, who will not receive any additional compensation for such solicitation activities. We have retained Georgeson Inc. at an estimated cost of \$7,000, plus expenses, to assist in the solicitation of proxies.

Table of Contents

Q: What is the deadline to propose actions for consideration at the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate individuals to serve as directors?

A: You may submit proposals, including director nominations, for consideration at future stockholder meetings.

Stockholder Proposals: Any stockholder proposals (other than proposals to nominate directors) intended to be presented at an annual meeting of stockholders called for a date between May 7, 2014 and July 6, 2014 and to be considered for inclusion in our proxy materials must be received by December 27, 2013 and must comply with the procedures of Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Stockholder proposals failing to comply with the procedures of Rule 14a-8 will be excluded. Proposals should be addressed to:

Vonage Holdings Corp.

Attn: Corporate Secretary

23 Main Street

Holmdel, NJ 07733

For a stockholder proposal (other than proposals to nominate directors) intended to be presented at an annual meeting of stockholders called for a date between May 17, 2014 and August 5, 2014 that is not intended to be included in Vonage s proxy statement under Rule 14a-8, the stockholder must (1) provide the information required by Section 1.11 of our bylaws and (2) give timely notice to the Corporate Secretary of Vonage in accordance with our bylaws, which, in general, require that the notice be received by the Corporate Secretary of Vonage:

not earlier than February 6, 2014, and

not later than March 8, 2014.

However, in the event that the date of the annual meeting is not held between May 17, 2014 and August 5, 2014, a written proposal that is not intended to be included in Vonage s proxy statement under Rule 14a-8 must be received not earlier than the 120th day prior to the annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (A) the 90th day prior to the annual meeting and (B) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of the annual meeting is mailed or public disclosure of the date of the annual meeting is made, whichever first occurs.

Nomination of Director Candidates: You may propose director candidates for consideration by the board of directors nominating and governance committee. Any such recommendations should include the nominee s name and qualifications for board of directors membership and should be directed to the Corporate Secretary of Vonage at the address of our principal executive offices set forth above. For additional information regarding stockholder recommendations for director candidates, see Corporate Governance Director Nomination Process below in this proxy statement.

In addition, our bylaws permit stockholders to nominate directors for election at an annual stockholder meeting. To nominate a director, the stockholder must provide the information required by Section 1.10 of our bylaws. In addition, the stockholder must give timely notice to our Corporate Secretary in accordance with our bylaws, which, in general, require that the notice be received by our Corporate Secretary within the time period described above under Stockholder Proposals for stockholder proposals that are not intended to be included in our proxy statement under Rule 14a-8.

Copy of Bylaw Provisions: You may contact our Corporate Secretary at Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733 for a copy of the relevant bylaw provisions regarding the requirements for making stockholder proposals and nominating director candidates.

6

PROPOSAL NO. 1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

General

Our board of directors is divided into three classes. One class is elected each year and members of each class hold office for three-year terms. The Class I, Class II, and Class III directors were elected to serve until the annual meetings of stockholders to be held in 2013, 2014, and 2015, respectively, and until their respective successors are elected and qualified. Our board of directors currently consists of eleven members. Michael A. Krupka, David C. Nagel, and Margaret M. Smyth are Class I directors. Marc P. Lefar, Joseph M. Redling, John J. Roberts, and Carl Sparks are Class II directors. Jeffrey A. Citron, Morton David, Stephen Fisher, and Jeffrey J. Misner are Class III directors. As discussed more fully under Corporate Governance Board Determination of Independence, our board has determined that each of Jeffrey Citron, Morton David, Stephen Fisher, Michael A. Krupka, Jeffrey J. Misner, David C. Nagel, Joseph M. Redling, John J. Roberts, Margaret M. Smyth, and Carl Sparks is independent under New York Stock Exchange rules.

Mr. Lefar s employment agreement with us provided for his election to our board of directors upon commencement of his employment in July 2008. His agreement provides that, during the term of his employment, subject to legal and regulatory requirements, our board of directors shall nominate him for re-election at the end of each then current term.

Each of our directors other than Margaret M. Smyth and Stephen Fisher was elected at an annual meeting of shareholders. In September 2012, Peter Barris resigned as a Class I director and we filled the vacancy with Ms. Smyth, who is up for re-election at the 2013 annual meeting as a Class I director. In January 2013, we increased the size of our board of directors from ten to eleven members and filled the newly created Class III vacancy with Mr. Fisher. At that time, even though the term of Class III directors expires in 2015, we announced that we would put Mr. Fisher s election up for ratification at our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders. As discussed in detail under *Board Composition and Nominees* below, Ms. Smyth brings to the board global business experience and a strong accounting background and Mr. Fisher brings deep expertise in cloud computing and other areas of technology. Each of Ms. Smyth and Mr. Fisher was recommended to our nominating and governance committee by a third-party search firm.

No director, director nominee, or associate of any director or director nominee, is a party adverse to us or any of our subsidiaries in any material proceeding or has any material interest adverse to us or any of our subsidiaries. No director, director nominee or executive officer is related by blood, marriage or adoption to any other director or executive officer.

Board Composition and Nominees

We believe that each member of our board of directors should possess certain qualities, including ethical character, sound judgment, and demonstrated business acumen. In addition, board members should be familiar with our business and industry, be able to work collegially, be free of conflicts of interest, be willing to devote sufficient time to satisfy obligations as a director, and be willing to act in the long-term interests of all stockholders. While we do not have a formal diversity policy, we seek to have directors representing a range of experiences, qualifications, skills, and backgrounds relevant to our activities. In particular, we have substantially deepened the technology and digital marketing experience of our board in recent years as the company continues to develop new communications products to meet the emerging needs of customers worldwide. In addition, our nominating and governance committee has made board diversity a priority in its evaluation of director candidates.

The persons named in the enclosed proxy card will vote to elect each of the following nominees as a director, unless the proxy is marked otherwise. Each nominee has indicated a willingness to serve as a director, if elected. If any nominee becomes unable or unwilling to serve, the proxies may be voted for substitute nominees selected by our board of directors.

Nominees for Terms Expiring in 2016 (Class I Directors)

Michael A. Krupka, age 48, joined our board of directors in July 2007. Mr. Krupka has served as Managing Director of Bain Capital Venture Partners, LLC, a venture capital firm, since its founding in 2000. Prior to Bain Capital Ventures, Mr. Krupka was a Managing Director and Principal with the Private Equity Group of Bain Capital Partners, LLC from 1994 to 2000, during which time he focused on technology and technology-driven companies, including software, hardware, database and telecommunication services. Earlier at Bain Capital Partners, LLC, from 1991 to 1994, Mr. Krupka was a Principal of Information Partners, a fund focused on early-stage information technology investing. He joined Bain Capital in 1991 and focused on early-stage technology-related companies. Mr. Krupka serves on the board of directors of a number of privately held companies. Mr. Krupka became our Lead Independent Director in February 2010.

As a long-time venture capitalist in the technology area, Mr. Krupka brings strategic insight and extensive experience with technology companies to our board of directors, both in our core businesses as well as in emerging products and technologies. He also has deep experience with the capital markets. Mr. Krupka brings this experience to his role as our Lead Independent Director.

David C. Nagel, age 67, joined our board of directors in August 2010. From December 2001 until his retirement in May 2005, Dr. Nagel served as the President, Chief Executive Officer, and a director of PalmSource, Inc., a provider of operating system software platforms for smart mobile devices. From September 2001 to December 2001, he was Chief Executive Officer of the Platform Solutions Group at Palm, Inc., a provider of mobile computing solutions. Prior to joining Palm, from April 1996 to September 2001, Dr. Nagel was Chief Technology Officer of AT&T Corp., a communications service provider, President of AT&T Labs, a corporate research and development unit of AT&T, and Chief Technology Officer of Concert, a partnership between AT&T and British Telecom. Earlier in his career, Dr. Nagel was senior vice president at Apple Computer where he led the worldwide research and development group responsible for Mac OS software, Macintosh hardware, imaging and other peripheral products development. Before joining Apple, Dr. Nagel was head of NASA human factors research at NASA s Ames Research Center. Dr. Nagel currently serves on the board of directors of Align Technology, Inc. and Tessera Technologies, Inc.

Dr. Nagel has extensive experience and insight in research and development and network communications technologies that is highly relevant to our continuing focus on the development of new products and services. Dr. Nagel also provides insight as we continue to enhance our research and development and intellectual property strategies.

Margaret M. Smyth, age 49, joined our board of directors in September 2012. Ms. Smyth is Vice President of Finance at Con Edison, an energy company, a position she has held since 2012. Previously, Ms. Smyth served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hamilton Sundstrand, which is part of United Technologies Corp., a provider of products and services to the aerospace and building systems industries, from October 2010 to June 2011. Prior to that, she served as Vice President and Corporate Controller of United Technologies Corp. from August 2007 to September 2010 and Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of 3M Corporation from April 2005 to August 2007. Ms. Smyth has previously held financial leadership positions at two public accounting firms, Deloitte & Touche and Arthur Andersen. Ms. Smyth serves on the board of directors of Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, a diversified publishing, broadcasting and merchandising company.

As a result of her business experience and strong accounting background, including experience in public company accounting, risk management, and disclosure, Ms. Smyth has been determined to be an Audit Committee Financial Expert under the SEC s rules and regulations and brings to our board of directors a strong financial and accounting background combined with a seasoned strategic perspective. Her guidance on financial and strategic matters is a valuable addition to our pursuit of our strategic growth initiatives and capital allocation strategies.

8

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2014 (Class II Directors)

Marc P. Lefar, age 49, has been our Chief Executive Officer and a director since July 2008. Prior to joining Vonage, Mr. Lefar was Founder and Principal of Marketing Insights, a technology and media consulting firm that he founded in May 2007. Prior to founding that firm, Mr. Lefar served as Chief Marketing Officer of Cingular Wireless from February 2003 to April 2007. Mr. Lefar also served as Executive Vice President, Marketing and Value-Added Services of Cable and Wireless Global from 2000 to 2002. He also held senior leadership roles at Verizon Wireless and GTE Wireless. Mr. Lefar spent the first nine years of his career at Procter & Gamble.

Mr. Lefar brings to our board of directors key senior leadership experience in large, high-growth telecommunications companies and possesses a strong mix of strategic, finance, and operating skills. He is a seasoned marketing executive who played a critical role in growing customer bases, launching new product initiatives, and developing award-winning advertising campaigns. In addition, he serves as our Chief Executive Officer.

Joseph M. Redling, age 54, joined our board of directors in June 2011. Mr. Redling served as President and Chief Executive Officer of NutriSystem, Inc., a weight loss company, from May 2008 to November 2012. Mr. Redling also served as Chairman of NutriSystem, Inc. s board of directors until April 2012 and had served as President and Chief Operating Officer of NutriSystem, Inc. from September 2007 to May 2008. Prior to joining NutriSystem, Inc., Mr. Redling held a number of executive positions at AOL, Inc., a global web services company, including Chief Marketing Officer, President of AOL Access, President of AOL Paid Services and Customer Management and Chief Executive Officer of AOL International from September 2001 to March 2007.

Mr. Redling has deep expertise in online marketing, which will be instrumental as we continue to deliver new communications products to customers worldwide. In addition, Mr. Redling has held multiple executive positions at NutriSystem, Inc. and other major corporations, and has served as the Chairman of NutriSystem, Inc. s board, providing him with a significant understanding of board processes and public company governance practices.

John J. Roberts, age 68, joined our board of directors in August 2004. Mr. Roberts served as Global Managing Partner for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, a provider of assurance, tax, and advisory services, from 1998 until his retirement in June 2002. From 1994 to 1998, Mr. Roberts served as Chief Operating Officer of Coopers & Lybrand, which merged with Price Waterhouse in 1998. He currently serves on the boards of directors and audit committees of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and Safeguard Scientifics, Inc. and the board of trustees and audit committee of the Pennsylvania Real Estate Investment Trust. He is a Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

As a result of his roles at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its predecessors, Mr. Roberts, chairman of our audit committee, has experience in public company accounting, risk management, disclosure, and financial system management and has been determined to be an Audit Committee Financial Expert under the SEC s rules and regulations. He also has other public company board experience (including specific experience on audit committees).

Carl Sparks, age 45, joined our board of directors in February 2011. Mr. Sparks has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Travelocity Global since April 2011. Travelocity is one of the leading companies in online travel, and a division of Sabre Inc. Prior to joining Travelocity, he served as President of Gilt Groupe, an invitation-only online retailer of luxury products and experiences. Mr. Sparks joined Gilt as Chief Marketing Officer in October 2009 and was promoted to President in March 2010, serving in that role until April 2011, when he joined Travelocity. Mr. Sparks also served for five years at Expedia Inc., an online travel company, from June 2004 until October 2009, in a variety of leadership roles, including Senior Vice President, Marketing and Retail Operations at Hotels.com from June 2004 to May 2006, Chief Marketing Officer at Expedia.com from June 2006 to December 2007, and General Manager at Hotels.com USA, Latin America & Canada from January

9

Table of Contents

2008 to October 2009. Earlier in his career, Mr. Sparks served as Vice President of Direct Business and Brand at Capital One Financial Corp., a financial institution, and also served in senior marketing and strategy roles at Guinness & Co., PepsiCo Inc., and The Boston Consulting Group.

Mr. Sparks has senior leadership, infrastructure systems, and digital marketing experience in high-growth companies maintaining a strong online sales presence. He also has significant international business and brand marketing expertise in consumer products and services.

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2015 (Class III Directors)

Jeffrey A. Citron, age 42, has been the Chairman of our board of directors since January 2001. Mr. Citron was also our Chief Executive Officer from January 2001 through February 2006. He served as our Chief Strategist from February 2006 to July 2008 and assumed the additional role of Interim Chief Executive Officer from April 2007, upon the resignation of Vonage s prior Chief Executive Officer, until July 2008. In 1995, Mr. Citron founded The Island ECN, a computerized trading system designed to automate the order execution process. Mr. Citron became the Chairman and CEO of Datek Online Holdings Corp., an online trading firm, in February 1998 and departed The Island ECN and Datek Online Holdings Corp. in October 1999.

As a Founder and former Chief Executive Officer and Chief Strategist of Vonage, Mr. Citron brings deep institutional knowledge and perspective regarding our strengths, challenges, opportunities, and operations to his role as Chairman of our board of directors. Having successfully founded and grown several businesses, Mr. Citron brings entrepreneurial and business-building skills and experience to Vonage. He also brings the perspective of a stockholder with significant stock ownership in us. In addition, Mr. Citron possesses an extensive understanding of telecommunications technologies, including VoIP technology.

Morton David, age 76, joined our board of directors in August 2001. Mr. David served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Franklin Computer Corporation (later Franklin Electronic Publishers, Inc.) from 1983 to 1998. Mr. David previously served on the board of directors of Datek Online Holdings Corp. from 1998 until its acquisition by Ameritrade Holdings in 2002 and on the board of directors of Sharper Image Corporation from 1998 until 2008.

Mr. David, chairman of our compensation committee, brings extensive experience to our board of directors from his service as chairman and chief executive officer of large and growing technology organizations, as well as public company board experience. In addition, Mr. David contributes institutional knowledge from his longstanding service on our board.

Stephen Fisher, age 48, joined our board of directors in January 2013. Mr. Fisher serves as Executive Vice President of Technology at Salesforce.com, an enterprise cloud computing company. He joined Salesforce.com in 2004 and has held several leadership positions including Senior Vice President of Platform Product Management and Vice President, Engineering. Prior to that, Mr. Fisher served as Architect, AT&T Labs, Inc. from 2001 through 2004. Before joining AT&T Labs, he was Founder, President and Chief Executive Officer of NotifyMe Networks, Inc. In addition, he served as Department Manager, Internet Products Group at Apple Computer, Inc. and was a Lecturer at Stanford University.

Mr. Fisher brings deep technology experience to our board of directors, including expertise in cloud computing, systems architecture, and software development. He is an inventor on 14 U.S. patents and has worked with both start-ups and established technology companies.

Jeffrey J. Misner, age 59, joined our board of directors in March 2008. Mr. Misner served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Continental Airlines, Inc., one of the world s largest airlines, from August 2004 until his retirement in August 2008. Mr. Misner joined Continental Airlines, Inc. in 1995 and served in various capacities during his career with the company.

10

Mr. Misner brings to our board of directors extensive expertise in public company and international matters, including public company accounting, tax, risk management, disclosure, and financial system management. Mr. Misner, a member of our audit committee, has been determined to be an Audit Committee Financial Expert under the SEC s rules and regulations.

Transactions with Related Persons

Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions

Our board has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any transaction, arrangement or relationship in which Vonage is a participant, the amount involved exceeds \$120,000, and one of our executive officers, directors, director nominees, or 5% stockholders (or their immediate family members), each of whom we refer to as a related person, has a direct or indirect material interest.

If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, which we refer to as a related person transaction, the related person must report the proposed related person transaction to our chief legal officer. The policy calls for the proposed related person transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved or ratified by the board s audit committee. Whenever practicable, the reporting, review, and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the audit committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits the chairman of the audit committee to review and, if deemed appropriate, approve proposed related person transactions that arise between committee meetings, subject to ratification by the audit committee at its next meeting. Any related person transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually.

A related person transaction reviewed under the policy will be considered approved or ratified if it is authorized by the audit committee after full disclosure of the material terms of the transaction and the related person s interest in the transaction. As appropriate for the circumstances, the audit committee will review and consider:

the related person s interest in the related person transaction;

the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the related person transaction;

the approximate dollar value of the amount of the related person s interest in the transaction without regard to the amount of any profit or loss;

whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of our business;

whether the terms of the transaction are no less favorable to us than terms that could have been reached with an unrelated third party;

the purpose of, and the potential benefits to us of, the transaction; and

any other information regarding the related person transaction or the related person in the context of the proposed transaction that would be material to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction.

The audit committee may approve or ratify the transaction only if the audit committee determines that, under all of the circumstances, the transaction is in, or is not inconsistent with, our best interests. The audit committee may impose any conditions on the related person transaction it deems appropriate.

In addition to the transactions that are excluded by the instructions to the SEC s related person transaction disclosure rule, the board has determined that the following transactions do not create a material direct or indirect interest on behalf of related persons and, therefore, are not related person transactions requiring approval or ratification for purposes of this policy:

interests arising solely from the related person s position as an executive officer of another entity (whether or not the person is also a director of such entity) that is a participant in the transaction, where

11

Table of Contents

(a) the related person and all other related persons own in the aggregate less than a 10% equity interest in such entity, (b) the related person and his or her immediate family members are not involved in the negotiation of the terms of the transaction and do not receive any special benefits as a result of the transaction, (c) the amount involved in the transaction equals less than the greater of \$1 million dollars or 2% of the annual gross revenues of the other entity that is a party to the transaction, and (d) the amount involved in the transaction equals less than 2% of Vonage s annual gross revenues; and

a transaction that is specifically contemplated by provisions of Vonage s charter or bylaws.

The policy provides that transactions involving compensation of executive officers shall be reviewed and approved by the compensation committee in the manner specified in its charter.

As reviewed and approved by our Audit Committee in accordance with our policies and procedures for the review of related person transactions, on February 19, 2013, we entered into a Stock Option Cancellation Agreement with Mr. Lefar. Pursuant to the agreement, we cancelled vested, in-the-money options to purchase 4,500,000 shares of common stock, which had been previously awarded to Mr. Lefar under our 2006 Incentive Plan, in exchange for a cash payment. This agreement is described in detail below under Long-Term Incentives in our Compensation Discussion & Analysis.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our board of directors recommends a vote FOR the election to our board of directors of Ms. Smyth and Messrs. Krupka and Nagel as Class I directors.

12

PROPOSAL NO. 2

RATIFICATION OF ELECTION OF STEPHEN FISHER TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

General

On January 15, 2013, in accordance with our charter and bylaws, the board increased the size of our board and elected Stephen Fisher to fill the resulting vacancy. Mr. Fisher was elected as a Class III Director with a term expiring at our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Mr. Fisher brings valuable technology experience to our board of directors, as discussed more fully under *Proposal No. 1 Election of Directors Board Composition and Nominees Directors whose Terms Expire in 2015* above.

Stockholder ratification of Mr. Fisher s election is not required pursuant to applicable law or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws. We are submitting Mr. Fisher s election for ratification by stockholders, however, in order to provide stockholders an opportunity to express their views on his election as a matter of good corporate governance. The failure of stockholders to ratify Mr. Fisher s election will not cause him to be removed from the board or otherwise affect his prior election. If the stockholders fail to ratify Mr. Fisher s election, the board (with the advice and recommendations of the nominating and governance committee) will consider the matter further and may seek his resignation or allow him to continue to serve as a director.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our board of directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the election of Mr. Fisher to our board of directors as a Class III director.

13

PROPOSAL NO. 3

RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

General

We are asking stockholders to ratify the audit committee s appointment of BDO USA, LLP as Vonage s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2013. Although stockholder approval of the audit committee s appointment of BDO USA, LLP is not required by law or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, our board of directors and the audit committee believe that it is advisable to give stockholders an opportunity to ratify the appointment. In the event the stockholders fail to ratify the appointment, the audit committee will reconsider this appointment. Even if the appointment is ratified, the audit committee, in its discretion, may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if the audit committee determines that such a change would be in Vonage s and its stockholders best interests.

BDO USA, LLP has audited Vonage s consolidated financial statements annually since Vonage s 2004 fiscal year. Representatives of BDO USA, LLP are expected to be present at the meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so. It is also expected that those representatives will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Auditors Fees

The following table summarizes the fees BDO USA, LLP billed to us for each of the last two fiscal years.

Fee Category	Fiscal Year 2012	Fiscal Year 2011
Audit Fees (1)	\$ 1,085,846	\$ 1,118,641
Tax Fees (2)	158,854	134,738
Audit Related Fees (3)	43,450	87,000
Total Fees	\$ 1,288,150	\$ 1,340,379

- (1) Audit fees consist of amounts billed for the audit of our annual financial statements included in our annual report on Form 10-K, the review of the interim financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, the audit of internal control over financial reporting and other professional services provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings.
- (2) Tax fees consist of amounts billed for advisory services regarding tax compliance issues and the completion of corporate tax returns. None of our tax fees billed in fiscal year 2012 or 2011 were provided under the de minimis exception to the audit committee pre-approval requirements.
- (3) Audit related fees consist of other services not directly related to audit or review services.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee has adopted policies and procedures relating to the approval of all audit and non-audit services that are to be performed by our registered public accounting firm. This policy generally provides that we will not engage our independent registered public accounting firm to render audit or non-audit services unless the service is specifically approved in advance by the audit committee or the engagement is entered into pursuant to one of the pre-approval procedures described below.

From time to time, our audit committee may pre-approve specified types of services that are expected to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm during the next 12 months. Any such pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or type of services to be provided and is also generally subject to a maximum dollar amount.

Table of Contents

Our audit committee has also delegated to the chairman of the audit committee the authority to approve any audit or non-audit services to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm. Any approval of services by the chairman of the audit committee pursuant to this delegated authority is reported on at the next meeting of the audit committee.

The Audit Committee pre-approved all of the Audit, Audit Related, and Tax Fees billed to us by BDO USA, LLP for 2012.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our board of directors recommends that the stockholders vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP to serve as Vonage s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2013.

15

PROPOSAL NO. 4

APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF OUR 2006 INCENTIVE PLAN TO INCREASE THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE

General

Our 2006 Incentive Plan became effective upon completion of our initial public offering and was amended and restated to effect certain technical changes in October 2009 and again to increase the number of shares available for issuance and to make various clarifications and updates in 2010. The objectives of our 2006 Incentive Plan, as so amended and restated, include attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified personnel, and providing them with incentives to contribute to our long-term success by providing opportunities to obtain an equity interest in our company.

We are proposing the amendment and restatement of our 2006 Incentive Plan, which, as proposed to be so amended and restated, is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix A. The amendment to our 2006 Incentive Plan increases by 11 million shares the maximum number of shares available for issuance (section 5(a)). Our board of directors, upon recommendation of our compensation committee, believes that it needs additional shares available for issuance under our 2006 Incentive Plan in order to assure that we have sufficient shares available for issuance to competitively retain, motivate and reward employees, and offer meaningful grants to attract new hires and board members.

Currently, the maximum number of shares of our common stock that are authorized for issuance under our 2006 Incentive Plan is 66.4 million shares. As of March 31, 2013, there were approximately 18.7 million shares remaining available for issuance under the Plan. If approved, the amended and restated 2006 Incentive Plan will increase the maximum number of shares authorized for issuance under the Plan to 77.4 million shares. As of March 31, 2013, this would provide for 29.7 million shares available for future issuance pursuant to grants under the Plan. If the proposal is approved, based on our historic and projected award patterns, our compensation committee estimated that the additional shares would result in an adequate number of shares being available under the 2006 Incentive Plan to permit grants through the end of 2015.

Summary of the 2006 Incentive Plan

The following summary describes the 2006 Incentive Plan as it will be in effect assuming the amendment and restatement is approved.

Administration. Our 2006 Incentive Plan generally is administered under the direction of the compensation committee, which has authority to determine the terms of awards under the plan, including authority to determine who is granted awards, the terms and conditions of awards, and the number of shares subject to, or the cash amount payable with respect to, an award, and to construe and to interpret the terms of the plan and all awards.

Eligibility. The compensation committee has the authority under our 2006 Incentive Plan to select the individuals who are granted awards from among our officers, employees, non-employee directors, consultants, advisors and independent contractors. Approximately 966 employees were eligible to participate in the plan as of March 31, 2013. The compensation committee may delegate its authority to grant awards (other than to executive officers) to appropriate officers to the extent Delaware law permits.

Number of Shares Available for Issuance. The maximum number of shares of our common stock that are authorized for issuance under our 2006 Incentive Plan will be 77.4 million shares. Shares issued under the plan may be authorized and unissued shares or may be issued shares that we have reacquired. Shares covered by awards that are forfeited, cancelled or otherwise expire without having been exercised or settled, or that are settled by cash or other non-share consideration, become available for issuance pursuant to a new award. Shares that are tendered or withheld to pay the exercise price of an award or to satisfy tax withholding obligations are not considered to be available for issuance pursuant to new awards. In the case of stock appreciation rights, it is the number of shares in respect of which a right is issued that reduces the number of shares that may be issued

Table of Contents

pursuant to new awards, notwithstanding that a lesser number of shares may be issued in settlement of the exercise of the right. Giving effect to the proposed amendment, at March 31, 2013, 29.7 million shares would have been available for future issuance pursuant to grants under the 2006 Incentive Plan.

Types of Awards; Limits. The compensation committee may grant the following types of awards under our 2006 Incentive Plan: options; restricted stock; restricted stock units; stock appreciation rights; performance stock; performance units; annual awards; and other awards based on, or related to, shares of our common stock or cash, or any combination thereof. Options awarded under our 2006 Incentive Plan may be incentive stock options qualified under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or non-qualified stock options. Our 2006 Incentive Plan contains various limits with respect to the types of awards, as follows:

a maximum of 20,000,000 shares may be issued under the plan pursuant to incentive stock options;

a maximum of 10,000,000 shares may be issued pursuant to options and stock appreciation rights granted to any one participant in a calendar year;

a maximum of \$5,000,000 may be paid pursuant to annual awards granted to any one participant in a calendar year; and

a maximum of \$10,000,000 may be paid (in the case of awards denominated in cash) and a maximum of 10,000,000 shares may be issued (in the case of awards denominated in shares) pursuant to awards, other than options, stock appreciation rights or annual awards, granted to any one participant in a calendar year.

Stock Options. A stock option is the right to acquire shares of our common stock at a fixed exercise price for a fixed period of time. The exercise price is set by the compensation committee but cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, with an exception for options granted in substitution for options held by employees of companies that our company acquires. For this and other purposes under our 2006 Incentive Plan, we may determine the fair market value using closing prices (for the date of grant if a trading day and, if not, for the preceding trading day) or may use weighted averages to the extent consistent with the tax rules governing deferred compensation. The term of a stock option may not exceed ten years.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock appreciation rights are awards that entitle the participant to receive an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value on the exercise date of the number of shares for which the stock appreciation right is exercised over the grant price. The grant price is set by the compensation committee, but cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant, with an exception for stock appreciation rights granted in substitution for stock appreciation rights held by employees of companies that we acquire. Payment to the participant on exercise may be made in cash or shares, as determined by the compensation committee. If the compensation committee determines at the time of grant that a stock appreciation right may be settled only in shares, the term may not exceed ten years. Stock appreciation rights may be granted in tandem with options.

Restricted Stock. Restricted stock awards are shares of our common stock that are subject to cancellation, restrictions, and vesting conditions, as determined by the compensation committee. The shares may be either granted or sold to the participant.

Restricted Stock Units. Restricted stock units entitle a participant to receive one or more shares of our common stock in the future upon satisfaction of vesting conditions determined by the compensation committee. Restricted stock units may be settled through the delivery of shares, cash of equivalent value, or a combination of shares and cash, as determined by the compensation committee.

Performance Stock and Performance Units. Performance stock and performance unit awards entitle a participant to receive and retain a designated number of shares of our common stock or to receive the value of a designated number of shares based on the level of achievement of specified performance goals during a specified performance period. The compensation committee sets the performance goals and performance period at the date of grant. When the compensation committee determines that the performance goals have

Table of Contents

been satisfied, performance stock vests and performance units are settled through the delivery of shares of our common stock, cash of equivalent value, or a combination of cash and shares.

Annual Awards. An annual award entitles a participant to receive an amount that is determined based on a target amount and the level of achievement during a plan year of specified performance goals, which are set by the compensation committee at the date of grant, and, upon determination by the compensation committee that the performance goals have been met, that is payable in shares of our common stock, cash, or a combination of cash and shares.

Other Awards. The compensation committee also may grant other forms of awards that generally are based on the value of shares of our common stock. These other awards may provide for cash payments based in whole or in part on the value or future value of shares, may provide for the future delivery of shares to the participant, or may provide for a combination of cash payments and future delivery of shares.

Section 162(m) Performance-Based Awards. Awards under our 2006 Incentive Plan that are intended to qualify as performance-based for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, are conditioned on the achievement of one or more specified performance goals established by the compensation committee at the date of grant. The material terms of awards intended to qualify as performance-based awards are:

performance-based awards may be awarded by the compensation committee to any person eligible to participate in the 2006 Incentive Plan.

the performance goals are comprised of specified levels of one or more of the following performance measures, as the compensation committee deems appropriate: net earnings, net income, or adjusted operating profit or loss (each before or after taxes); earnings per share; book value per share; costs; net sales or revenue growth; net operating profit; return measures (including, but not limited to, return on assets, investment, capital, equity, sales, revenue, telephony services revenue, or adjusted average monthly revenue per line); cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow return on equity, cash flow return on investment and pre-marketing operating income per line); adjusted earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, and/or amortization; gross or operating margins; productivity ratios; profitability of an identifiable business unit or product; share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total shareholder return); expense targets (including, but not limited to, subscriber line acquisition cost and average monthly direct costs of telephony services per line); margins; operating efficiency (including, without limitation, improvements in capital structure); market share; customer satisfaction (including, but not limited to, new subscriptions, lost subscriptions, and relations between the two); net subscriber line additions; working capital targets; cash value added; economic value added; market penetration; product introductions; platform availability; staff training; and corporate social responsibility policy implementation; in each case determined, where applicable, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (subject to modifications approved by the compensation committee) consistently applied on a business unit, divisional, subsidiary or consolidated basis or any combination thereof. The performance goals may be described in terms of objectives that are related to the individual participant or objectives that are company-wide or related to a subsidiary, division, department, region, function or business unit and, may be measured on an absolute or cumulative basis, or on the basis of percentage of improvement over time, and in terms of company performance (or performance of the applicable subsidiary, division, department, region, function or business unit), or measured relative to selected peer companies or a market or other index. Subject to compliance with Section 162(m), the compensation committee may adjust the performance goals (including, without limitation, to prorate goals and payments for a partial plan year) in the event of: (i) non-recurring events, including divestitures, spin-offs, or changes in accounting standards or policies; (ii) mergers and acquisitions; and (iii) financing transactions.

the maximum amount of performance-based awards payable to an eligible employee in any one calendar year is subject to the award limitations of the 2006 Incentive Plan described above in the section titled *Types of Awards; Limits*.

18

Table of Contents

Amendment and Termination; Term. Our board of directors has authority to amend, modify, suspend or terminate the plan, with approval of our stockholders where required by law or applicable listing standards and except that no such action may adversely affect a participant s rights to an outstanding award without the participant s consent. Unless terminated earlier, our 2006 Incentive Plan will expire in 2016, on the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the plan.

Change of Control. In the event of a change of control of our company, the compensation committee may take steps it considers appropriate, including accelerating vesting, modifying an award to reflect the change of control, or providing that outstanding awards will be assumed, or substituted for, by the surviving corporation or permitting or requiring participants to surrender options and stock appreciation rights in exchange for a cash payout equal to the difference between the highest price paid in the change of control and the exercise price.

Under our 2006 Incentive Plan, the following events generally result in a change of control (subject to certain limits if the deferred compensation rules of the tax laws apply to an award):

a person or group acquires at least 30% of the voting power of our company;

a majority of our directors are replaced by directors not approved by our board of directors;

there is a merger or consolidation of our company that results in new stockholders having at least 50% of the voting power of our company;

there is a sale of all or substantially all of our assets; or

our stockholders approve a plan of liquidation or dissolution.

Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. Our compensation committee may provide participants with the right to receive dividends or payments equivalent to dividends or interest with respect to an outstanding award. Any such dividends or interest may either be paid currently or may be deemed to have been reinvested in shares, and may be settled in shares, cash, or a combination of cash and shares. No dividends or dividend equivalents may be paid with respect to options or stock appreciation rights.

Participant s Stockholder Rights. A participant has no rights as a stockholder with respect to shares covered by an award (including voting rights) until the date the participant or his nominee becomes the holder of record of such shares. Generally, no adjustment is made to awards to account for dividends or other rights provided stockholders as of a record date prior to the date a participant becomes the holder of record of shares.

Deferrals. Our compensation committee may permit participants to defer the payment or settlement of an award to one or more dates selected by the participant (subject to certain limits if the deferred compensation rules of the tax laws apply to such award).

Repricing of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. Options and stock appreciation rights awarded under our 2006 Incentive Plan may not be repriced. For these purposes, to reprice an award means (i) to reduce the exercise or grant price of an award, or (ii) grant a new award with a lower exercise or grant price in exchange for the cancellation of the original award.

Adjustments or Changes in Capitalization. In the event of a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, extraordinary cash dividends, recapitalization, liquidation, merger or other corporate event generally affecting the shares of our common stock, the aggregate number of shares available for issuance under our 2006 Incentive Plan, the various plan limits, and the number of shares subject to, and exercise or grant price of, outstanding awards will be equitably adjusted in the manner determined by the compensation committee.

Limited Transferability. Generally, an award may only be transferred upon the participant s death to a designated beneficiary or in accordance with the participant s will or the laws of descent or distribution, and, except for incentive stock options, pursuant to a domestic relations order. The compensation committee also may

Table of Contents

permit limited transferability to a participant s immediate family member, family trust, or other entity established for the benefit of the participant or his or her immediate family members, as long as the transferee satisfies certain securities law standards.

Federal Income Tax Information

The following is a summary of certain of the federal income tax consequences of awards under our 2006 Incentive Plan. The following is not to be considered as tax advice to any person who may be a participant, and any such persons are advised to consult their own tax counsel.

Nonqualified Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. A participant does not recognize taxable income upon the grant of a nonqualified stock option or a stock appreciation right. Upon exercise, the participant recognizes ordinary income equal to the amount the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date exceeds the exercise or grant price. Upon subsequent sale of the acquired shares, any additional gain or loss is capital gain or loss, long-term if the shares have been held for more than one year.

Incentive Stock Options. A participant does not recognize ordinary taxable income when an incentive stock option is granted or exercised. However, the excess of the fair market value of the covered shares over the exercise price on the date of exercise is an item of tax preference for alternative minimum tax purposes. If the participant exercises the option and holds the acquired shares for more than two years following the date of option grant and more than one year after the date of exercise, the difference between the sale price and exercise price is taxed as long-term capital gain or loss. If the participant sells the acquired shares before the end of the two-year and one-year holding periods, he or she generally recognizes ordinary income at the time of sale equal to the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date (or the sale price, if less) minus the exercise price of the option. Any additional gain is capital gain, long-term if the shares have been held for more than one year.

Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Stock, Performance Units. A participant does not recognize taxable income upon the grant of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock, or performance stock units. Instead, the participant recognizes ordinary income at the time of vesting of restricted stock or performance stock or at the time of settlement of restricted stock units or performance units in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares (or cash) received minus any amounts the participant paid. Any subsequent gain or loss is capital gain or loss, long-term if the shares have been held for more than one year. For restricted stock only, the participant may instead elect to be taxed at the time of grant. If the participant makes such an election, the one year long-term capital gains holding period begins on the date of grant.

Tax Effect for our Company. We generally receive a deduction for any ordinary income recognized by a participant with respect to an award. However, special rules limit the deductibility of compensation paid to named executive officers. Under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the annual compensation paid to named executive officers may not be deductible to the extent it exceeds \$1,000,000, unless certain conditions are met.

New Plan Benefits

Except for the automatic grants of restricted stock to non-employee directors, which will continue as described under Director Compensation-Equity-Based Grants to Board Members, no determination has been made with respect to future recipients of awards under the 2006 Incentive Plan and it is not possible to specify the names or positions of the individuals to whom awards may be granted in the future or the number of shares of our common stock to which such awards will relate.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The board of directors recommends that the stockholders vote FOR approval of this proposal to amend and restate our 2006 Incentive Plan.

20

PROPOSAL NO. 5

RATIFICATION OF THE EXTENSION OF OUR TAX BENEFITS PRESERVATION PLAN

We are asking stockholders to ratify the extension, through June 7, 2015, of our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan (the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan or the Plan) with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as rights agent. The Plan, which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix B, is designed to protect our U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax benefits (collectively, the Tax Benefits) from limitations pursuant to Section 382 under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code).

Background

We believe that our Tax Benefits are valuable assets. Although the actual realization of the Tax Benefits is difficult to predict and depends on future events, we estimate that, as of December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately \$744 million of U.S. federal net operating losses carryforwards (expiring in varying amounts from 2025 through 2030). Under the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations, we generally may carry forward these losses to offset future earnings and thereby reduce our federal income tax liability, subject to certain requirements and restrictions. At the end of 2011, reflecting our sustained profitable operating performance over the past three years and continued expectations for future income, we determined that our U.S. federal net operating losses were more likely than not to be used prior to their expiration. Accordingly, we released the valuation allowance against these Tax Benefits, which had previously reduced our net deferred tax assets.

Our ability to use our Tax Benefits would be substantially delayed, and a significant portion of such Tax Benefits may expire unused, if we experience an ownership change as determined under Section 382 of the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations (Section 382). If an ownership change occurs, our ability to use our net Tax Benefits would be subject to an annual limitation. This could significantly impair the amount of our net deferred tax asset. Under Section 382, an ownership change generally occurs if one or more stockholders (including, in certain cases, a group of stockholders) owning at least 5% of our common stock increase their aggregate ownership by more than 50% over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. For this purpose, the less-than-5% stockholders of the corporation are aggregated and treated as single separate stockholders and, under certain circumstances, may be divided into further groupings with each treated as a single separate stockholder. The rules for determining whether an ownership change occurs are complex. Nevertheless, based on our continued monitoring of public filings over time and other information within our knowledge, we do not believe that an ownership change has occurred to date that would impair the availability of our Tax Benefits.

In connection with the release of the valuation allowance, our board of directors carefully considered how to preserve the benefits of our Tax Benefits for long-term stockholder value. After consulting with our tax, financial and legal advisors, our board of directors adopted the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan in furtherance of this objective. Although stockholder approval of the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan is not required by applicable law or by our organizational documents, our board of directors determined, as a matter of good corporate governance, that if it were to elect to extend the term of the Plan beyond June 7, 2013, such extension would be submitted to stockholders at the Annual Meeting for ratification.

Pursuant to the Plan, on June 7, 2012, we declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a Right) for each outstanding share of common stock. The Rights were distributed to stockholders of record as of June 18, 2012 and will continue to be distributed to holders of our common stock issued after that date unless and until the Distribution Date (defined below) occurs. The Rights have terms that are designed to deter acquisitions of our common stock that could result in an ownership change, as described below.

On April 4, 2013, after further consultation with our advisors, our board of directors determined to extend the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan through June 7, 2015, subject to ratification of the extension by stockholders at the Annual Meeting. Our board believes that the Plan will continue to serve as a tool to help prevent an

21

ownership change that could substantially reduce the significant long-term potential benefits of the Tax Benefits and, thus, preserve stockholder value. Accordingly, our board of directors recommends that stockholders ratify the extension of the Plan.

It is important to note the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan may deter, but ultimately cannot block, acquisitions of our common stock that might result in an ownership change. The limitations of these measures are described in more detail below. Our board urges stockholders to carefully read the proposal, the items discussed below under the heading *Certain Considerations Related to the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan*, and the full terms of the Plan.

Summary of the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan

The following is a summary of the terms of the Plan. It is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Plan (which includes as Exhibit A the form of Certificate of Designation of the Series A Participating Preferred Stock of Vonage and as Exhibit B the forms of Rights Certificate and Election to Exercise), which is attached as Appendix B hereto and incorporated by reference herein. A copy of the Plan is also available free of charge from us.

Purpose. The Tax Benefits Preservation Plan is intended to preserve the Company's ability to fully utilize the Tax Benefits, in the interests of the Company and its stockholders, by avoiding an ownership change. Specifically, the Plan seeks to deter any person, subject to certain exceptions, from (together with all affiliates and associates of such person) acquiring beneficial ownership of 4.9% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock (an Acquiring Person), other than with the approval of the board of directors. See *Exceptions to the Definition of Acquiring Person* below for a discussion of persons who are automatically excluded from the definition of Acquiring Person and a recent request for an exemption from the definition of Acquiring Person.

Exercise. The Rights are not currently exercisable. After the Distribution Date, each Right is exercisable to purchase, for \$10.00 (the Purchase Price), one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Participating Preferred Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of Vonage (Preferred Stock), subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

Distribution Date. Prior to the Distribution Date, the Rights are attached to our common stock, are not represented by separate certificates and any transfer of our common stock shall also constitute a transfer of the Rights associated with such common stock. On or after the Distribution Date, subject to certain exceptions specified in the Plan, the Rights will separate from the common stock. The Distribution Date will occur upon the earlier of (i) ten (10) business days following the date of a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has become an Acquiring Person or such earlier date on which a majority of our board of directors becomes aware of the existence of an Acquiring Person (such date being the Stock Acquisition Date) or (ii) ten (10) business days (or such later time as our board of directors may determine) following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person becoming an Acquiring Person.

Exceptions to the Definition of Acquiring Person. An Acquiring Person would not include, among others: (i) Vonage or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) employee benefit plans of Vonage or its subsidiaries and persons holding shares of common stock on behalf of such plans; (iii) 4.9% stockholders existing at the time the Plan was first adopted (unless they increase their percentage stock ownership with certain exceptions); (iv) persons or groups who, in the board s view, have inadvertently become 4.9% stockholders, unless and until such person or group shall have failed to divest, as soon as practicable, sufficient shares of common stock such that they would no longer be a 4.9% stockholder (upon terms or conditions satisfactory to the board); (v) an investment advisor to mutual funds or trustees of certain qualified trusts if immediately after any increase in beneficial ownership of the common stock by such Person (A) no single mutual fund or qualified trust advised by such investment advisor or such trustee, respectively, actually owns or beneficially owns 4.9% or more of the shares of common stock then outstanding and (B) such investment advisor or trustee beneficially owns (other than with respect to

22

Table of Contents

such mutual funds or such trusts, as applicable) less than 4.9% of the shares of common stock then outstanding; and (vi) new 4.9% stockholders whose acquisitions, as determined by the board of directors in its sole discretion, would not be inconsistent with the purpose of the Plan.

We recently received a request to permit the requesting stockholder to increase its beneficial ownership of our outstanding common stock above 4.9% without becoming an Acquiring Person. Our board of directors considered the Section 382 impact of the requested increase in ownership in the context of other factors that we must also take into account in determining whether we have undergone an ownership change, including the impact of our announced stock buyback program and the potential impact of certain transactions that are outside our control. Based on these considerations, our board concluded that the increased risk of an ownership change that would be created by granting the request would be inconsistent with the purpose of the Plan, which is the preservation of our Tax Benefits for the long-term benefit of all stockholders.

Flip-In . In the event that any person becomes an Acquiring Person, each holder of a Right will thereafter have the right to receive upon exercise, in lieu of a number of one-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock, common stock (or, in certain circumstances, cash, property or other securities of Vonage), having a value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right. The exercise price is the Purchase Price times the number of units associated with each Right (initially, one). Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, following the occurrence of an Acquiring Person becoming such, all Rights that are, or (under certain circumstances specified in the Rights Agreement) were, beneficially owned by any Acquiring Person or its affiliates and associates and certain transferees thereof will be null and void.

Exchange. At any time after the Stock Acquisition Date but before the time the Acquiring Person becomes the beneficial owner of 50% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock, our board may exchange the Rights (other than Rights beneficially owned by an Acquiring Person or any other Rights that shall be deemed void under the terms of the Rights Agreement), in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio equal to one share of common stock per Right (subject to adjustment).

Redemption. At any time until the close of business on the tenth day following the Stock Acquisition Date, Vonage may redeem the Rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of \$0.001 per Right. Immediately upon the action of our board ordering redemption of the Rights (or at the effective time of such redemption designated by the board), the Rights will terminate and the only right of the holders of Rights will be to receive the \$0.001 redemption price.

Expiration. The Rights expire on the earliest of (i) the time at which the Rights are redeemed pursuant to the Plan, (ii) the time at which the Rights (other than Rights owned by an Acquiring Person) are exchanged pursuant to the Rights Agreement, (iii) the repeal of Section 382 or any successor statute if our board determines that the Plan is no longer necessary or desirable for the preservation of the Tax Benefits, (iv) the close of business on the first day of a taxable year of Vonage to which our board determines that no Tax Benefits may be carried forward, (v) the close of business on June 7, 2013, provided that, prior to such date, our board may determine to extend the Rights Agreement to a date not later than the close of business on the third anniversary of the date of the Plan (which, as indicated above, the board has determined to do) as long as such extension is submitted to our stockholders for ratification at the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or (vi) the first business day after the date on which the Inspectors of Election for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders certify that the Plan has not been ratified by stockholders at that meeting.

Amendments. Any of the provisions of the Plan may be amended by our board for so long as the Rights are redeemable (other than changes to the redemption price, which may not be amended). After the Rights are no longer redeemable, the provisions of the Plan may be amended by our board provided that no such amendment may (i) adversely affect the interests of the holders of the Rights, (ii) cause the Rights Agreement to again become amendable or (iii) cause the Rights to again become redeemable.

23

Table of Contents

Stockholder Rights. Until a Right is exercised, the holder thereof, as such, will have no rights with respect thereto as a Vonage stockholder, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive dividends. While the distribution of the Rights will not be taxable to stockholders or to Vonage, stockholders may, depending upon the circumstances, recognize taxable income in the event that the Rights become exercisable for common stock (or other consideration) as set forth above or in the event the Rights are redeemed.

Antidilution Provisions. The Purchase Price payable, and the number of units of Preferred Stock or other securities or property issuable, upon exercise of the Rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution (i) in the event of a stock dividend on, or a subdivision, combination or reclassification of, the Preferred Stock, (ii) if holders of the Preferred Stock are granted certain rights or warrants to subscribe for Preferred Stock or convertible securities at less than the current market price of the Preferred Stock, or (iii) upon the distribution to holders of the Preferred Stock of evidences of indebtedness or assets (excluding regular quarterly cash dividends) or of subscription rights or warrants (other than those referred to above).

Certain Considerations Related to the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan

After careful consideration, our board of directors believes that the continued effectiveness of the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan remains in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders to protect our Tax Benefits from limitations pursuant to Section 382. However, we cannot eliminate the possibility that an ownership change will occur even if the Plan is ratified. Please consider the items discussed below in voting on this Proposal.

Continued Risk of Ownership Change. The Plan may not be effective in deterring all acquisitions that could result in an ownership change. For example, persons could decide to purchase our shares and become a 5-percent stockholder notwithstanding the Plan, either because the purchaser is unaware of the Plan or makes a conscious decision to discount the potential consequences under the Plan of obtaining such status. In addition, the Plan does not preclude dispositions by current 5-percent stockholders, which would also have the effect of increasing our cumulative change in ownership.

Potential Effects on Liquidity. The Plan is intended to deter persons or groups of persons from acquiring beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock in excess of the specified limitations. The Plan may reduce the number of persons willing to acquire our common stock or the amount they are willing to acquire, potentially impacting a stockholder sability to dispose of our common stock.

Potential Impact on Value. Because the Plan may restrict a stockholder s ability to acquire common stock, the market value of the common stock may be affected. The Plan could discourage or prevent accumulations of substantial blocks of shares in which stockholders might receive a substantial premium above market value. However, we believe these disadvantages are outweighed by the importance of maintaining the availability of the Tax Benefits. Our board did not adopt the Plan to discourage stockholders from accumulating common stock; the purpose of the Plan is to reduce the risk that we may be unable to fully utilize our Tax Benefits. We have retained the ability under the Plan for our board to redeem the Rights or cause the Plan to expire if our board determines that the Rights are no longer in the best interests of Vonage or of its stockholders.

Potential Anti-Takeover Effect. The Plan is designed to preserve the long-term value of our Tax Benefits and is not intended to prevent a takeover of Vonage. However, it could be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect because, among other things, an Acquiring Person may be diluted upon the occurrence of a triggering event. Accordingly, the overall effects of the Tax Benefits Preservation Plan may be to render more difficult, or discourage, a merger, tender offer, or assumption of a control by a substantial holder of our securities. The Plan, however, should not interfere with any merger or other business combination approved by our board of directors.

Potential IRS Challenge to the Tax Benefits. The IRS has not audited or otherwise validated the amount of our Tax Benefits. The IRS could challenge the amount of the Tax Benefits, which could result in an increase in our liability in the future for income taxes. The complexity of the Section 382 provisions and the limitations on

24

Table of Contents

the timely knowledge that any publicly traded company can have about the ownership of, and transactions in, its securities contribute to significant uncertainty in determining whether an ownership change has occurred. Therefore, we cannot assure you that the IRS or other taxing authority will not claim that we experienced an ownership change and attempt to reduce or eliminate our utilization of Tax Benefits, even if the Plan is in place.

Recommendation of our Board of Directors

Our board of directors recommends that the stockholders vote FOR the ratification of the extension of our Tax Benefits Preservation Plan through June 7, 2015.

25

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our board of directors believes that good corporate governance is important to ensure that Vonage is managed for the long-term benefit of stockholders. This section describes key corporate governance principles and practices that our board has adopted. Complete copies of our governance principles, committee charters, code of conduct, and finance code of ethics are available on the Corporate Governance section of our website at http://ir.vonage.com/. Alternatively, you may request a copy of any of these documents by writing to Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733.

Governance Principles

Our board has adopted governance principles to assist in the exercise of its duties and responsibilities and to serve the best interests of Vonage and our stockholders. These principles, which provide a framework for the conduct of the board s business, provide that:

the board s principal responsibility is to oversee the management of Vonage to assure that the best interests of the Company and its stockholders are being served;

a majority of the members of our board shall be independent directors;

the non-management directors meet regularly in executive session;

directors have full and free access to management and, as necessary and appropriate, independent advisors;

new directors participate in an orientation program and all directors are encouraged to participate in continuing director education on an ongoing basis; and

at least annually, our board and its committees will conduct a self-evaluation to assess whether they are functioning effectively and are operating to improve efficiency.

Board Leadership Structure

The following section describes our board leadership structure, the reasons why the structure is in place at this time, the roles of various positions, and related key governance practices.

Our board of directors is currently composed of ten independent directors, and Mr. Lefar, our Chief Executive Officer. Our board of directors has established audit, compensation and nominating and governance committees. Each of the board committees is composed solely of independent directors, each with a different independent director serving as committee chair.

As permitted by our governance principles, our board of directors has designated one of the independent directors as Lead Independent Director. Our Lead Independent Director (i) has the responsibility to schedule and prepare agendas for and to chair meetings of non-management or independent directors, (ii) facilitate communication between our Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer and the other directors (however, directors are free to, and do, communicate directly with our Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer), (iii) cause the dissemination of information to the other members of our board of directors, and (iv) raise issues on behalf of the outside directors when appropriate. Mr. Krupka was appointed as our Lead Independent Director in February 2010.

With respect to the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, our governance principles provide that our board of directors may fill these positions based upon what is in the best interests of Vonage and its stockholders at any point in time. In July 2008, our board of directors first determined that the positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer should be held by different persons, with Mr. Citron serving as Chairman and Mr. Lefar serving as Chief Executive Officer. While Mr. Lefar has now acquired the institutional

knowledge that initially was a primary reason for separating the roles, our board of directors has continued the separation. As further discussed under Board Determination of Independence below, though our

26

Table of Contents

board of directors has determined that our Chairman of the Board is independent under New York Stock Exchange rules, we believe that maintaining our current leadership structure, including a separate Chairman and Lead Independent Director, is the best approach to maintaining an appropriate level of checks and balances in our governance and allows our board of directors to function effectively.

Our nominating and governance committee oversees annually a self-evaluation by our board of directors of its performance during the prior year. As part of this process our nominating and governance committee will conduct an evaluation to review the progress and effectiveness of our board of directors and its committees, and submits comments to the Lead Independent Director. Following discussion with the Lead Independent Director, our nominating and governance committee reports back to our board of directors, and the full board of directors will consider and discuss the committee s report, including assessing whether the current leadership structure continues to be appropriate for Vonage and its stockholders. Our governance principles provide the flexibility for our board of directors to modify our leadership structure in the future as appropriate. We believe that Vonage, like many U.S. companies, has been well-served by this flexibility.

Risk Management

Our Chief Executive Officer reports directly to our board of directors and is responsible for the day-to-day management of our company, including all material risks. Our Chief Financial Officer is responsible for day-to-day financial risk management under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer. Management has implemented an enterprise risk management process to identify, assess, and manage the most significant risks facing us and conducts risk assessments of our business periodically. The risk assessment process is global in nature and has been developed to identify and assess our risks, including the nature of the risk, as well as to identify steps to mitigate and manage each risk. Our senior leadership team, functional heads, and other managers are surveyed and/or interviewed to develop this information. The enterprise risk management process is led by our Chief Legal Officer, who reports to our Chief Executive Officer, and our Vice President, Internal Audit, who reports directly to our audit committee. In 2012, our Chief Legal Officer and Vice President, Internal Audit provided regular status updates on our enterprise risk management process and related activities to our audit committee.

Our board of directors is involved in oversight of Vonage s risk assessment and monitoring processes, although much of the board s oversight efforts are conducted through the committees of the board. Management reviews significant risks with our board of directors throughout the year, as necessary and/or appropriate, and conducts a formal review of its assessment and management of the most significant risks with our board of directors on a periodic basis. Our audit committee has oversight responsibility to review management s risk assessment and risk management policies, including the policies and guidelines used by management to identify, monitor and manage our exposure to risk. Our audit committee reviews and discusses with our management, our outside auditor and our internal auditors the risks facing Vonage and our management s plans to manage the risks identified as a result of the enterprise risk management process and reports on its review to the full board of directors. Our compensation committee reviews risks arising from our compensation policies and practices and reports on its review to the full board of directors.

Board Determination of Independence

Under applicable New York Stock Exchange rules, a director will only qualify as independent if our board affirmatively determines that he or she has no material relationship with Vonage (either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with us). Our board has established guidelines to assist it in determining whether a director has such a material relationship. The guidelines are included in our governance principles, which are available on our website as discussed above. Under these guidelines, a director is not considered to have a material relationship with Vonage if he or she is independent under Section 303A.02(b) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual and he or she:

is an executive officer of another company which is indebted to Vonage, or to which Vonage is indebted, unless the total amount of either company s indebtedness to the other is more than 1% of the total consolidated assets of the company for which he or she serves as an executive officer; or

27

Table of Contents

serves as an officer, director or trustee of a tax exempt organization, unless Vonage s discretionary contributions to such organization are more than the greater of \$1 million or 2% of that organization s consolidated gross revenues. Vonage s automatic matching of employee charitable contributions will not be included in the amount of Vonage s contributions for this purpose.

In addition, ownership of a significant amount of our stock, by itself, does not constitute a material relationship.

For relationships not covered by the guidelines set forth above, the determination of whether a material relationship exists is made by the other independent members of our board.

Our board has determined that Jeffrey Citron, Morton David, Stephen Fisher, Michael A. Krupka, Jeffrey J. Misner, David C. Nagel, Joseph M. Redling, John J. Roberts, Margaret M. Smyth, and Carl Sparks meet the categorical standards described above, that none of these directors has a material relationship with Vonage and that each of these directors is independent as determined under Section 303A.02(b) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual. Our board also determined that Peter Barris, during his tenure as a director, met the categorical standards described above, that he did not have a material relationship with Vonage and that he was independent as determined under Section 303A.02(b) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual. Mr. Barris resigned from our board of directors effective upon the appointment of Ms. Smyth on September 6, 2012. In determining the independence of the directors listed above, our board considered the transactions discussed in Transactions with Related Persons and that none of the directors determined to be independent engaged in any related persons transactions with the Company. In making its determination that Mr. Citron is independent , our board considered the fact that the company provided health insurance and medical care payments to Mr. Citron in the amount of \$18,002 in 2010, \$21,889 in 2011, and \$24,349 in 2012.

Board Meetings and Attendance

Our board met seven times during 2012. During 2012, each current director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of the number of board meetings and the number of meetings held by all committees on which he then served.

Director Attendance at Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Our governance principles provide that directors are encouraged to attend the annual meeting of stockholders. All of our directors then serving on our board attended the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders.

Director Retirement Age

Our governance principles do not establish an age limit for serving as a director. However, the governance principles provide that once, upon reaching the age of 72 years, a director must submit to our board of directors a letter of resignation to be effective at the next meeting of stockholders held for the election of directors. In each instance, our board of directors will accept the letter of resignation unless our nominating and governance committee determines otherwise. In making such determination, our nominating and governance committee balances the benefits of a director s contributions and continuity against the benefits of having a fresh viewpoint from a new director and such other factors as our board of directors or the nominating and governance committee may consider appropriate.

Directors Changing Their Present Job Responsibilities

Our governance principles require directors who substantially change their present job responsibilities to tender their resignation to the Chairman of the Board, who must refer it to our nominating and governance committee for review. Our board of directors, upon the recommendation of the nominating and governance

28

committee, determines whether to accept the resignation. In cases in which a director is uncertain as to whether he or she ought to tender his or her resignation, our board of directors expects such director to consult with the chairman of the nominating and governance committee. The nominating and governance committee shall consider a director—s other job responsibilities in its deliberations concerning directors—standing for re-election.

Board Committees

Our board has established audit, compensation, and nominating and governance committees, each of which operates under a charter that has been approved by our board. Current copies of each committee s charter are posted on the Corporate Governance section of our website at http://ir.vonage.com/.

Our board has determined that all of the members of each of these committees are independent as defined under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, including, in the case of all members of the audit committee, the independence requirements contemplated by Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Audit Committee

The audit committee s responsibilities include:

appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our registered public accounting firm;

overseeing the work of our independent registered public accounting firm, including through the receipt and consideration of reports from such firm;

reviewing and discussing with management and the independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures;

monitoring our internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures;

overseeing our internal audit function;

reviewing management s risk assessment and risk management policies;

establishing policies regarding hiring employees from our independent registered public accounting firm and procedures for the receipt, retention, confidential treatment, and investigation of accounting or auditing related complaints and concerns;

meeting independently with our internal auditing staff, independent registered public accounting firm and management;

reviewing and approving or ratifying any related person transactions; and

preparing the audit committee report required by SEC rules, which is included below in this proxy statement.

The members of our audit committee are Mr. Roberts (Chairman), Mr. Misner, and Ms. Smyth. Mr. David served on our audit committee through March 18, 2013. Each member of our audit committee meets, and during his service Mr. David met, the standards for financial literacy for companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange. In addition, our board of directors has determined that Mr. Roberts, Ms. Smyth, and Mr. Misner, each of whom is independent under applicable rules governing independence of audit committee members, are each also an audit committee financial expert—as defined by applicable SEC rules. No member of our audit committee currently serves on the audit committees of more than three public companies, except for Mr. Roberts, who serves on three audit committees in addition to ours. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Roberts—service on those other committees does not impair his ability to effectively serve on our audit committee. Our audit committee met five times during fiscal year 2012.

Compensation Committee

The compensation committee s responsibilities include:

annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our chief executive officer and other executives;

determining, along with our other independent directors, compensation for our chief executive officer;

reviewing risks arising from our compensation policies and practices;

reviewing and approving the compensation of our other executive officers;

overseeing and administering our cash and equity incentive plans;

monitoring compliance of executive officers with our program of required stock ownership;

reviewing and discussing annually with management our Compensation Discussion and Analysis, which is included below in this proxy statement and considering the results of the most recent shareholder advisory vote on executive compensation; and

preparing the compensation committee report required by SEC rules, which is included below in this proxy statement. The compensation committee has the authority to engage its own independent advisors to assist in carrying out its responsibilities under its charter. The compensation committee utilizes the services of an independent compensation consultant, Meridian Compensation Partners, LLC, to advise the committee in connection with its oversight of our compensation program. The compensation consultant attends meetings of the compensation committee and also communicates with the compensation committee outside of meetings. The compensation consultant reports to the compensation committee rather than to management, although the compensation consultant may meet with management from time to time for purposes of gathering information on proposals that management may make to the compensation committee. The compensation committee is free to replace the compensation consultant or hire additional consultants at any time. The compensation consultant does not provide any services to management. The Committee considered various factors, including the factors set forth by SEC rules, and determined that the services provided by Meridian in 2012 did not raise any conflicts of interest. The processes and procedures followed by our compensation committee in considering and determining executive compensation are described below under the heading. Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

Our management, aided by our human resources and finance departments, and eConsultingNetwork, provided statistical data and survey information to the compensation committee to assist it in determining 2012 compensation levels. The compensation committee considered various factors, including the factors set forth by SEC rules, and determined that the services provided by eConsultingNetwork in 2012 did not raise any conflicts of interest. While the compensation committee utilized this information and valued management s observations with regard to compensation, the ultimate decisions regarding executive compensation were made by the compensation committee.

Compensation committee meetings typically have included, for all or a portion of each meeting, not only the committee members but also other board members, our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, members of our legal staff and a representative from our human resources department.

The members of our compensation committee are Mr. David (Chairman), Mr. Krupka, and Mr. Redling. Our compensation committee met five times during 2012. Mr. Barris served on our compensation committee until September 6, 2012 when he ceased to be a director.

Nominating and Governance Committee

The nominating and governance committee s responsibilities include:

identifying individuals qualified to become board members;

recommending to our board the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of the board s committees;

making recommendations to our board on the size of and qualifications for membership on the board and board committees;

reviewing and making recommendations to the board with respect to the compensation of non-executive directors;

developing and recommending governance principles to the board;

reviewing our disclosures regarding the specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that each director and nominee should serve as a director;

reviewing the board s leadership structure in light of our specific characteristics and circumstances and recommending change, if any, to the board for approval, and reviewing our disclosure regarding board leadership structure; and

overseeing an annual self-evaluation of the board and its committees.

An independent compensation consultant, Meridian Compensation Partners, LLC, advised the committee in connection with reviewing the compensation of non-executive directors during 2012. The processes and procedures followed by the nominating and governance committee in identifying and evaluating director candidates are described below under the heading Director Nomination Process.

The members of our nominating and governance committee are Mr. Misner (Chairman), Dr. Nagel and Mr. Sparks. Mr. Barris served on our nominating and governance committee until September 6, 2012 when he ceased to be a director. Our nominating and governance committee met seven times during 2012.

Director Nomination Process

In recruiting and selecting director candidates, our nominating and governance committee considers various factors, including the experience and expertise of existing board members and the alignment of candidates—abilities and qualifications with the long-term strategic direction of the company. To identify director candidates, our nominating and governance committee makes requests to board members and others for recommendations and uses the services of third-party search firms. The committee meets from time to time to evaluate biographical information and background material relating to potential candidates and sets up interviews of selected candidates by members of the committee and the board.

Stockholders may recommend individuals to our nominating and governance committee for consideration as potential director candidates by submitting their names, together with appropriate biographical information and background materials and a statement as to whether the stockholder or group of stockholders making the recommendation has beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock for at least a year as of the date such recommendation is made, to our nominating and governance committee, Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733. Assuming that appropriate biographical and background material has been provided on a timely basis, the committee will evaluate stockholder-recommended candidates by following substantially the same process, and applying substantially the same criteria, as it follows for candidates submitted by others. If the board determines to nominate a stockholder-recommended candidate and

recommends his or her election, then his or her name will be included in our proxy card for the next annual meeting.

31

Table of Contents

Stockholders also have the right under our bylaws to directly nominate director candidates, without any action or recommendation on the part of the committee or the board, by following the procedures set forth under Questions And Answers About The Proxy Materials And The Annual Meeting What is the deadline to propose actions for consideration at the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate individuals to serve as directors? Candidates nominated by stockholders in accordance with the procedures set forth in the bylaws will not be included in our proxy card for the next annual meeting.

Communicating with the Board of Directors or our Independent Directors

Our board will give appropriate attention to written communications that are submitted by stockholders and other interested parties, and will respond if and as appropriate. Communications are forwarded to all directors if they relate to important substantive matters or include suggestions or comments that the Lead Independent Director considers to be important for the directors to know. In general, communications relating to corporate governance and corporate strategy are more likely to be forwarded than communications relating to ordinary business affairs, personal grievances, and matters as to which we receive repetitive or duplicative communications.

Stockholders who wish to send communications to our Lead Independent Director or the independent directors as a group or the board should address such communications to such directors or the board of directors, Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733.

Codes of Conduct

We have adopted a code of conduct applicable to all our directors, officers, and employees and a finance code of ethics applicable to our chief financial officer and other employees in our finance organization. The code of conduct and the finance code of ethics are posted in the Corporate Governance section of our Investor Relations website, http://ir.vonage.com/. We will provide you with printed copies of our codes free of charge on written request to Vonage Holdings Corp., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 23 Main Street, Holmdel, NJ 07733. We intend to disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of our codes that apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or any person performing similar functions, on our Investor Relations website promptly following the date of such amendment or waiver.

Audit Committee Report

In the performance of its oversight responsibilities, the audit committee has reviewed our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 and the evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting as of that date, and has discussed them with our management and our independent registered public accounting firm.

The audit committee has also received from, and discussed with, our independent registered public accounting firm various communications that our independent registered public accounting firm is required to provide to the audit committee, including the matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1, AU Section 380) as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T.

The audit committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from our independent registered public accounting firm required by the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firm s communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and has discussed with our independent registered public accounting firm their independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the audit committee recommended to our board of directors that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 for filing with the SEC.

By the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Vonage Holdings Corp.

John J. Roberts, Chairman

Jeffrey J. Misner

Margaret M. Smyth

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During 2012, the members of our compensation committee were Mr. David, Mr. Krupka, and Mr. Redling. Mr. Barris served as a member of our compensation committee from January 1, 2012 through September 6, 2012, the date of his resignation. None of the members of our compensation committee was at any time in 2012, or formerly, an officer or employee of Vonage, and none of the members of our compensation committee had any relationship with Vonage requiring disclosure as a related person transaction under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. See

Transactions with Related Persons. During 2012, none of our executive officers served as a member of the compensation committee or board of directors of any entity that had one or more executive officers that served on our compensation committee or board of directors.

Compensation Committee Report

The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth below. Based on the foregoing review and discussion, the compensation committee has recommended to our board of directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement for filing with the SEC.

By the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Vonage Holdings Corp.

Morton David, Chairman

Michael A. Krupka

Joseph M. Redling

33

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Set forth below is certain information concerning our executive officers. Biographical information for Mr. Lefar is included under Proposal No. 1 Election of Directors.

Barbara Goodstein, Chief Marketing Officer. Ms. Goodstein, age 52, joined Vonage as Chief Marketing Officer in July 2012, leading our Sales and Marketing organization. Barbara is responsible for all aspects of our sales and marketing strategy and execution, including advertising and media, segment marketing, promotions and merchandising, direct and indirect distribution channels, customer lifecycle management, market research and business analytics. Barbara comes to Vonage with 27 years of experience leading marketing, innovation and P&L functions primarily for financial services companies. She has held management and senior leadership positions at AXA Equitable, American Express and JP Morgan Chase.

Kurt M. Rogers, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary. Mr. Rogers, age 41, joined us as Chief Legal Officer and Secretary in July 2009, overseeing the Law Department and legal, intellectual property, and regulatory matters regarding Vonage. In 2010, Mr. Rogers assumed additional responsibility for Vonage s Program Management Office. Mr. Rogers also heads Vonage s enterprise risk management program. Prior to joining us, he was a partner at the law firm of Bingham McCutchen LLP from August 2008 to July 2009 with a focus on litigating patents, trade secrets, copyrights, and trademarks. Prior to that he was an attorney at the law firm of Latham & Watkins LLP from April 2000 to August 2008, most recently as a partner.

Nicholas P. Lazzaro, Senior Vice President, Product Development and Information Technology & Managing Director, Mobile Services.

Mr. Lazzaro, age 43, joined us as Senior Vice President, Product Development and Information Technology in March 2009 and assumed the additional responsibilities of Managing Director, Mobile Services in April 2012. On April 9, 2013, Mr. Lazzaro resigned effective May 3, 2013.

Mr. Lazzaro is responsible for the Information Technology, Software Development, and Device Development and Certification teams and oversees our research and development efforts at our headquarters in Holmdel, New Jersey and in our research and development center in Tel Aviv, Israel. He has an extensive background in technology and telecommunications. From 2001 until joining Vonage, he held several leadership roles at Amdocs, a provider of software products and services to the communication, media, and entertainment industries, most recently serving as Unit President. He previously held roles at SBC Communications, a communications company, Ernst & Young, a professional services organization, and Iridium, a provider of mobile voice and data communications services, and served as Vice President at Fujitsu, a provider of IT-based business solutions.

Graham McGonigal, Senior Vice President of Network Operations. Mr. McGonigal, age 55, joined us as Senior Vice President of Network Operations in February 2012. Mr. McGonigal has more than 30 years of technical experience and has held senior leadership roles within AT&T, Cingular Wireless and Bellsouth. From September 2007 to January 2012, Mr. McGonigal was the Chief Operations Officer at nsoro MasTec LLC, a professional services company serving the telecommunications industry. At AT&T Mobility, Mr. McGonigal led the national data and service delivery networks and created highly competitive wireless data networks. He has successfully launched many data products and services, including the iPhone. He possesses a broad engineering, operations and quality background.

Kimberly L. O Loughlin, Senior Vice President of Customer Care & Managing Director International Markets. Ms. O Loughlin, age 50, joined us as Senior Vice President of Customer Care in April 2009. Ms. O Loughlin assumed the additional responsibilities of Managing Director International Markets in June 2011 and leads our international growth initiative. Ms. O Loughlin has more than 20 years of experience in customer service, Internet (web) services, operations, information technology, product management, marketing, and strategic planning at the senior executive level. Most recently, Ms. O Loughlin was Vice President, Customer Care Operations and Systems at AIG, Inc., an insurance and financial services company, from May 2005 to April 2009. Previously she held several leadership roles at AT&T Wireless, a communications company, from January 2000 to April 2005, most recently as Vice President, Business Operations.

34

Table of Contents

Michael Tempora, Senior Vice President of Product Management. Mr. Tempora, age 50, joined us as Senior Vice President of Product Management and Strategic Initiatives in December 2008. In this role, he led the execution of our strategic imperatives aimed at tightening fundamentals across the company and delivering an improved experience for our customers. In 2010, as Senior Vice President of Product Management, he began leading a dedicated, cross-functional team aimed at driving profitable revenue growth by increasing Vonage s market share of key segments making outbound international calls from the United States. Mr. Tempora has 26 years of experience in telecommunications and financial services. From January 2005 until joining Vonage, he was an Executive Director of AT&T, a communications company, and led AT&T s efforts to develop integrated wireless and consumer broadband products including video, Internet, and home phone. Prior to that, Mr. Tempora was Vice President Consumer Marketing & Product Management at AT&T Wireless from August 2004 to January 2005 and VP Operations Transformation at AT&T from September 1999 to May 2004.

Barry L. Rowan, Former Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, and Treasurer. Mr. Rowan, age 57, resigned as of February 14, 2013. Mr. Rowan joined us as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, and Treasurer in March 2010 and was responsible for all finance and treasury functions, as well as Carrier Operations, Business Development, and Investor Relations. Mr. Rowan served in various positions for Nextel Partners, Inc., a wireless communications services company, from August 2003 to June 2006, most recently as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Rowan served on the board of directors of ICO Global Communications (Holdings) Limited, a development stage next-generation mobile satellite service operator, from June 2006 until June 2011.

35

COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

In this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we address the compensation provided to our named executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table that follows this discussion. We also discuss the goals that we seek to achieve through our executive compensation program and other important factors underlying our compensation practices and policies.

Executive Summary

Our executive compensation philosophy is designed to focus our executive officers on key business objectives that create shareholder value. Our compensation program is designed to measure results against our strategic plan and reward exceptional individual performance. In 2012, building on the financial and operational progress made in prior years, our management team focused on driving our business by executing on our strategic initiatives. Building on the momentum of the previous three years, Vonage delivered strong financial and operational results in 2012, as follows:

Generated Net Income, excluding adjustments*, of \$84 million.

Produced Free Cash Flow* of \$93 million, our third consecutive year of positive Free Cash Flow.

For the second consecutive year, reduced total cost of termination or COTS. Total COTS declined 2% even as we absorbed a 12% increase in international minutes of use.

Reduced customer care costs per line 7% in 2012; this improvement is on top of the 11% reduction in 2011 and the more than 20% reductions in 2009 and 2010.

Lowered churn by 30 basis points over the course of the year, from 2.8% in the first quarter to 2.5% in the fourth quarter, resulting in full year churn of 2.6%.

As part of our balanced approach to capital allocation, and reflecting our strong cash flow generation, announced and implemented our first stock repurchase plan. In 2012, we repurchased 12 million shares for \$28 million.

Reflecting the progress we ve made executing on our IP strategy, in 2012, Vonage was awarded seven new patents by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, and we filed 59 patent applications, nearly triple the number filed just two years earlier. More than one third of those applications were mobile-related.

Executing on our international expansion growth initiative, signed our first partnership with Globe Telecom in the Philippines, offering a Philippines calling plan for the more than three million Filipinos living in the U.S.

Continued to support our customers shift to mobile services. Our current mobile applications, Extensions and Vonage Mobile, gained traction. In only 16 months, 28% of our entire customer base has signed up to use Vonage on their mobile phones, and 24% of all of our international calls now originate from a mobile phone.

While we largely offset general market trends associated with declining domestic home phone service usage, certain of our results fell short of our expectations, as follows:

Total Revenue of \$849 million, down 2% from \$870 million in 2011.

Adjusted EBITDA* of \$135 million, after investment in growth initiatives.

* Adjusted EBITDA, net income excluding adjustments and free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures. We define adjusted EBITDA as GAAP income from operations excluding depreciation and amortization, loss from abandonment of software assets, and share-based expense. We define net income excluding adjustments as GAAP net income (loss) excluding loss from abandonment of software assets, the change in fair value of embedded features within notes payable and stock warrant, the loss on extinguishment of notes and income tax expense (benefit). We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities minus capital expenditures, acquisition of intangible assets, and acquisition and development of software assets. Please refer to Appendix C for reconciliations of: (1) adjusted EBITDA to GAAP income from operations, (2) net income excluding certain adjustments to GAAP net income (loss), and (3) free cash flow to GAAP cash provided by operating activities.

36

As discussed in more detail below, on February 6, 2013, the compensation committee approved the payouts for all eligible employees, including our named executive officers, with respect to our annual cash bonuses for 2012 under our non-equity incentive plan. Our bonus program allows for the use of discretion by the compensation committee to award lower or higher payout levels than the pre-established metrics and weightings otherwise would provide when determining actual payouts. In determining annual cash bonus payouts for 2012, the compensation committee considered a broad range of results during 2012, including the major milestones and achievements detailed above, the stability of the core business despite competitive pressures, and progress on our growth initiatives. In light of these factors, the compensation committee exercised its discretion to increase the payouts under our non-equity incentive plan from approximately 50% to 70% of target for all eligible employees, including our named executive officers.

Annual Cash Bonus Payouts 2012, 2011 and 2010

Name	2012 Bonus Award	2012 Award as Percentage of Target Bonus	2011 Bonus Award	2011 Award as Percentage of Target Bonus	2010 Bonus Award	2010 Award as Percentage of Target Bonus
Marc P. Lefar	\$ 991,442	70%	\$ 659,062	57%	\$ 1,058,369	106%
Barry L. Rowan	\$ 337,885	70%	\$ 234,615	50%	\$ 549,000	122%
Barbara Goodstein (1)	\$ 153,245	100%				
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	\$ 161,619	70%	\$ 105,462	50%	\$ 190,000	96%
Kurt M. Rogers	\$ 175,108	70%	\$ 115,962	50%	\$ 273,000	122%

(1) Ms. Goodstein s annual cash bonus payout for 2012 was set by the terms of the offer letter she signed with us in 2012 upon joining Vonage as Chief Marketing Officer. Pursuant to her offer letter, Ms. Goodstein received 100% attainment of her target bonus in 2012, prorated based on wage-based earnings for 2012.

Key components of 2012 executive compensation were as follows:

Salary/Annual Cash Bonuses: In 2012, base salary was targeted at the 75th percentile for our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and at the 50th percentile of the market sample (as defined below) for our other named executive officers. Total cash compensation, which includes salary and annual cash bonus, was targeted at up to the 75th percentile for our named executive officers. 2012 annual cash bonuses for our named executive officers took into account the level of achievement of objective performance criteria and discretionary factors relating to the executive s individual performance.

Long-Term Incentives: 2012 stock option and restricted stock unit grants to executive officers were based on 2011 corporate performance, competitive data with respect to the market sample, available shares under our equity incentive plan at the time of grant and anticipated future grant requirements, the level of the individual s responsibility, and individual contributions to Vonage.

Discretionary Bonus: For 2012, the board of directors approved a discretionary bonus for our Chief Legal Officer reflecting his significant individual achievements. In addition, our Senior Vice President, Product Development and Information Technology & Managing Director, Mobile Services received a bonus in connection with the amendment of his employment arrangement with us, reflecting his increased responsibilities for our mobile business, responsibility for the execution of our mobile initiatives and continuing oversight of product development and information technology.

Compensation of our Former Chief Financial Officer

Barry Rowan served as our Chief Financial Officer from March 2010 until February 2013, when he ceased serving in that capacity to pursue a venture outside of the telecommunications industry. The total 2012 compensation listed for Mr. Rowan in the Summary Compensation Table, as calculated under applicable rules, was \$1,567,361. However, Mr. Rowan only realized \$850,926 of that amount as:

Certain stock options granted to Mr. Rowan, which had a grant date value of \$535,186 calculated as required in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718, were forfeited by Mr. Rowan upon termination of his employment with us prior to any exercise.

Mr. Rowan also forfeited 142,652 restricted stock units upon termination of his employment with us, including those granted in 2012, which had a grant date value of \$181,249.

We did not make any payments to Mr. Rowan upon the termination of his employment with us. In light of his agreement to remain with the Company through the filing of our annual report, we did agree to extend the period in which Mr. Rowan may exercise his vested options after termination to the first anniversary of his February 14, 2013 resignation date.

Compensation Objectives

The 2012 compensation for our executive officers was designed to meet the following objectives:

Provide competitive compensation in order to attract, retain, and motivate highly-skilled executives. We refer to this objective as competitive compensation.

Reinforce the importance of meeting and exceeding identifiable and measurable goals, while not encouraging our management to take unreasonable risks. We refer to this objective as performance incentives.

Provide meaningful equity ownership that will encourage the creation of stockholder value. We refer to this objective as alignment with stockholder interests.

Provide an incentive for long-term continued employment with us. We refer to this objective as retention incentives. The principal components of 2012 compensation are as follows:

Type of Compensation
Salary
Competitive Compensation
Annual Cash Bonus
Performance Incentives
Competitive Compensation

Long-Term Incentives Stock Options and Restricted Retention Incentives
Stock Units

Alignment with Stockholder Interests

Performance Incentives

Competitive Compensation

When reviewing the compensation program, including performance metrics and weighting for annual bonuses, our compensation committee, with the assistance of an independent compensation consultant, considers the impact of the compensation program on Vonage s risk profile. Our compensation committee believes that our compensation program has been structured to provide strong incentives for executives to appropriately balance risk and reward. See also Impact of Compensation Policies on Risk Management.

Our compensation committee reviews the compensation program annually to determine whether changes should be made to address the objectives described above.

Engagement of Compensation Consultant

The compensation committee has the authority to engage its own independent advisor to assist in carrying out its responsibilities under its charter. The compensation committee utilized Meridian Compensation Partners, LLC, an independent compensation consultant, as described in

further detail under Compensation Committee above, to advise the committee in connection with its oversight of our compensation program for 2012.

38

Table of Contents

Determination of Competitive Compensation

As part of our annual process for assessing the competitiveness of executive compensation, we compare the compensation of our executives, other than recently hired executives, to survey data. For 2012, we used the following data sources:

2011 Culpepper Executive Survey, covering companies in Telecommunications, Software, and Internet Services, where we focused on companies with an annual revenue size of \$500 million to \$2.5 billion.

2011 Radford Global Technology Survey, covering companies in Communications, Internet and Software, where we focused on companies with an annual revenue size of \$600 million to \$3.0 billion.

2011 Equilar Top 25 Survey, covering companies in Communications, Internet and Software, where we focused on companies with an annual revenue size of \$600 million to \$3.0 billion.

Because the compensation committee was seeking survey data covering a broad range of companies meeting the criteria set forth above, the compensation committee did not focus on, or ascertain the identities of, the individual companies included in the survey data. We refer to the data sources described above as the market sample.

We placed equal weight on each survey source. We believe that telecommunications, communications, software, and internet companies with comparable revenues represent an appropriate comparison group for our executives because they are the companies against which we are most likely to compete for executive talent.

For total cash compensation, which is base salary and the target amount of annual cash bonus, we targeted a minimum level at the 50th percentile, but contemplated payments of up to the 75th percentile contingent on the achievement of strong performance. We also targeted the same 50th to 75th percentile range for total direct compensation, which is base salary, the target amount of annual bonus, and stock-based grants. We believe these target levels were appropriate because we wanted the flexibility to reward company and individual performance that met or exceeded our performance goals. In evaluating the initial compensation for Ms. Goodstein, applicable data from the market sample with respect to new chief marketing officer hires was also considered.

A significant portion of our compensation is performance-based. Therefore, actual cash compensation paid to our named executive officers may vary from targeted levels based on achievement of performance targets. Moreover, the comparative analysis described above provides only guidelines, and we do not follow them rigidly.

Employment Arrangements with our Named Executive Officers

Mr. Lefar s 2012 compensation was governed in part by the terms of the employment agreement he signed in 2008, as amended in 2009, which is described in detail below under Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements.

Mr. Rowan s 2012 compensation was governed in part by the terms of the employment agreement he signed in 2010, which is described in detail below under Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements.

Mr. Rogers and Mr. Lazzaro s 2012 compensation was governed in part by the terms of the respective letter agreements they signed in 2009, which as amended are described in detail below under Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements.

Ms. Goodstein s compensation was governed principally by the terms of the offer letter she signed with us in 2012 upon joining Vonage as Chief Marketing Officer, which is described in detail below under Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements.

Salaries

The salaries of four of our named executive officers were increased as of March 26, 2012 after a review of the competitive guidelines described above and our performance in 2011 as follows:

Name	2012 Salary	2011 Salary
Marc P. Lefar	\$ 950,000	\$ 925,000
Barry L. Rowan	\$ 485,000	\$ 475,000
Barbara Goodstein	\$ 425,000	\$
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	\$ 395,000	\$ 355,000
Kurt M. Rogers	\$ 425,000	\$ 390,000

Ms. Goodstein s salary of \$425,000 per annum (pro rated from the time she joined us) was fixed in accordance with the terms of her offer letter with us.

Annual Cash Bonuses

When determining the annual cash bonuses of our executive officers, the compensation committee takes into account achievement of objective performance criteria. The compensation committee may also consider discretionary factors relating to the executive s individual performance. Based on the financial and operational performance of the company in 2012, the compensation committee exercised its discretion to increase the payouts under our non-equity incentive plan from approximately 50% to 70% of target for all eligible employees, including our named executive officers.

For 2012, the target bonus opportunity percentages for the named executive officers were as follows:

Name	Target Percentage of Base Salary
Marc P. Lefar	150%
Barry L. Rowan	100%
Barbara Goodstein	75%(1)
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	60%
Kurt M. Rogers	60%

(1) Ms. Goodstein's annual cash bonus payout for 2012 was set by the terms of the offer letter she signed with us in 2012 upon joining Vonage as Chief Marketing Officer. Pursuant to her offer letter, Ms. Goodstein received 100% attainment of her target bonus in 2012, prorated based on wage-based earnings for 2012.

As required by the employment agreement with Mr. Lefar, a review of his target annual bonus opportunity was conducted by the compensation committee in 2012. After this review, Mr. Lefar s target bonus was increased from 125% in 2011 to 150% in 2012 by our board of directors upon recommendation of our compensation committee.

There were three base metrics applicable to all participants in the 2012 bonus program: telephony services revenue, adjusted EBITDA, and churn. Certain of our employees, including Mr. Lazzaro, were subject to a fourth metric, with the weighting for the three base metrics correspondingly reduced. For those employees, the fourth metric measured performance specific to the employee s functional area of responsibility. For Mr. Lefar, as our chief executive officer, a portion of his bonus was based upon all three additional metrics specific to functional areas. The metrics utilized under our 2012 bonus program and the weighting of those measures for our named executive officers, as approved by the compensation committee, were as follows:

Metrics	Weighting
Telephony services revenue	45% of target bonus; 40% for Mr. Lefar and Mr. Lazzaro
Adjusted EBITDA	35% of target bonus; 30% for Mr. Lefar and Mr. Lazzaro
Churn	20% of target bonus; 15% for Mr. Lefar and Mr. Lazzaro
Cost of telephony services (COTS) Savings	5% of target bonus for Mr. Lefar
Platform availability	15% of target bonus for Mr. Lazzaro; 5% for Mr. Lefar
Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost Per Gross Addition	5% of target bonus for Mr. Lefar

Telephony services revenue is monthly subscription fees we charge our customers under our service plans plus usage and ancillary charges, excluding Federal Universal Service Fund fees and activation fees. We use telephony services revenue because it provides an indicator of our success growing our business and managing pricing, promotions, and customer credit policies and moving users to higher priced services that are regarded as strategically important. We exclude Federal Universal Service Fund fees from this measure because they represent a portion of our revenue that is not within the control of management and such fees are completely passed through to customers. We discontinued charging activation fees in 2010. Accordingly, we also exclude activation fees, which represent deferred fees that we recognize for accounting purposes from prior years.

Adjusted EBITDA is income (loss) from operations determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles excluding depreciation and amortization and share-based expense. Adjusted EBITDA is an important performance measure because it is a bottom line indicator of our long-term viability, and our operational performance. We believe it is appropriate to include a measure that excludes depreciation, amortization, and non-cash stock compensation expense because they represent non-cash charges that do not reflect on management s performance.

Churn relates to the average monthly percentage of customers that terminate service. We calculate churn by dividing the number of customers that terminate during the year by the simple average number of customers during the year, and dividing the result by twelve. The simple average number of customers is the number of customers on the first day of the year plus the number of customers on the last day of the year, divided by two. We use churn because it addresses our success in retaining subscribers. Reducing churn may have a significant positive impact on revenue and profitability.

COTS is an additional metric for our carrier operations team and Mr. Lefar. COTS is a blend of per-minute termination rates, including domestic and international calls, plus a component for non-termination COTS costs. We use COTS because it is a major driver of our cost structure and reductions in COTS may have a significant impact on adjusted EBITDA and profitability.

Platform availability is an additional metric for our development, information technology, and network operations teams and Mr. Lefar. Platform availability is the percentage of time during the year that certain platform applications are available. We use platform availability because our technology systems are a core function of our business and enable our customers to use and subscribe to our products and services and allow our customer care team to effectively support our customers.

Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost Per Gross Addition is an additional metric for our marketing team and Mr. Lefar. Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost Per Gross Addition includes customer acquisition related costs that are reflected as selling expense for accounting purposes. We use Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost Per Gross Addition because it is an effective

measure of how efficiently we spend funds to acquire new customers.

41

With respect to the base metrics, we increased the weighting for telephony services revenue by 5% in 2012 from 2011, while reducing the weighting for adjusted EBITDA by 5%. In 2012, we used Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost Per Gross Addition as an additional metric, rather than Subscriber Line Acquisition Cost (SLAC), because it is a more direct measure of marketing impact on our performance.

For each metric, there is a target level of performance that would result in a payment equal to 100% of the weighted target bonus for the metric, a minimum level of performance that would result in a payment equal to 50% of the weighted target bonus for the metric, and an outstanding level of performance that would result in a payment equal to 175% of the weighted target bonus for the metric. However, no payments above 85% of the target bonus would have been made unless the target level of performance under the Telephony Services Revenue metric was met. If the target levels of performance for all three base metrics would have been met, the payments would have started at 130% of the weighted target bonus for each metric with additional payments up to 175% possible. In the event that outstanding levels of performance were attained for all three metrics, the payment would have equaled 225% of an individual starget bonus for those metrics.

The following table shows 2011 performance for each metric, the performance levels upon which minimum, target, and maximum bonuses would be paid and the actual 2012 performance. Telephony services revenue, adjusted EBITDA, and COTS Savings are in thousands.

		2011				2012			Percentage of Target Award for the	
Performance Measure	Pe	rformance	M	inimum	Target	M	aximum	Pei	rformance	Metric
Adjusted EBITDA*	\$	168,000	\$ 1	125,000	\$ 138,000	\$	168,000	\$	135,000	88%
Telephony services revenue*	\$	788,000	\$ 7	780,000	\$ 812,000	\$ 8	840,000	\$	765,000	%
Churn		2.6%		2.9%	2.6%		2.4%		2.6%	100%
COTS Savings*	\$	25,000	\$	15,000	\$ 19,000	\$	30,000	\$	20,000	107%
Platform Availability		99.70%		99.65%	99.80%		99.90%		99.92%	175%
Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost										
Per Gross Addition	\$	304	\$	322	\$ 302	\$	272	\$	356	%

* Amounts in thousands.

The annual cash bonus awards are calculated for each executive by (1) multiplying the percentage of the target award earned for each metric by the weighting applicable to the executive for the metric and (2) further multiplying this amount by the executive starget bonus. Vonage s bonus program allows for the use of discretion by the compensation committee to award lower or higher payout levels than the pre-established metrics and weightings would provide when determining actual payouts. After reviewing the formulaic payout based on the pre-established metrics and weightings, the compensation committee determines whether it would be appropriate to adjust the payout based on additional factors. In determining annual cash bonus payouts for 2012, the compensation committee considered a broad range of results during 2012, including major milestones and achievements, the stability of core business despite competitive pressures, and progress on growth initiatives. Based on the corporate performance with respect to the performance metrics, and the factors detailed above, the compensation committee exercised its discretion to increase the payouts under our non-equity incentive plan from approximately 50% to 70% of target for all eligible employees, leading to the approval of the following annual bonus payments to the named executive officers:

	2012 Bonus	Award as Percentage of
Name	Award	Target Bonus
Marc P. Lefar	\$ 991,442	70%
Barry L. Rowan	\$ 337,885	70%
Barbara Goodstein (1)	\$ 153,245	100%
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	\$ 161,619	70%
Kurt M. Rogers	\$ 175,108	70%

42

(1) Ms. Goodstein s target bonus opportunity was guaranteed at 100% attainment of her target bonus in 2012, prorated based on wage-based earnings for 2012.

These payments are reflected in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table.

Following performance reviews in February 2013, our Chief Executive Officer recommended an additional bonus amount of \$75,000 for Mr. Rogers based upon individual performance and accomplishments, which was subsequently approved by the compensation committee. In approving the bonus award adjustment to Mr. Rogers, the compensation committee considered his principal leadership role in the implementation and management of our intellectual property strategy, including the significant growth in our patent application filings over prior years. This adjustment is reflected in the Bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table. In addition, Mr. Rogers target bonus was increased from 60% in 2012 to 75% for 2013 by our board of directors upon recommendation of our compensation committee.

In addition, as described in detail below under Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements, our board approved a one-time cash incentive award of \$150,000 pursuant to the amendment of Mr. Lazzaro s employment arrangement.

Name	2012 Discretionary Bonus Award
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	\$ 150,000
Kurt M. Rogers	\$ 75,000

Long-Term Incentives

Annual Stock Option and RSU Grants: In 2012, the compensation committee approved stock option and restricted stock unit grants to our executive officers based on positive 2011 corporate performance, competitive data for the market sample, available shares under our equity incentive plan at the time of grant and anticipated future grant requirements, the level of the individual s responsibility, and individual contributions to Vonage. In this regard, the compensation committee considered the recommendations of our Chief Executive Officer for the other executive officers then employed by us. The named executive officers identified below received the following equity awards in April 2012 (except as noted):

Name	Number of Shares Underlying Stock Options	Number of Restricted Stock Units
Marc P. Lefar	1,298,701	945,577
Barry L. Rowan	313,852	80,555
Barbara Goodstein	1,000,000	
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	313,852	153,725
Kurt M. Rogers	313,852	80,555

On December 6, 2012, in light of the announced resignation of Mr. Rowan and in recognition of the importance of continuity of the executive management team, the Board of Directors approved a grant of restricted stock units to Mr. Lefar, having an aggregate grant date value of \$1,500,000 based on the closing price of our common stock on December 11, 2012, resulting in a grant of 612,244 restricted stock units. One-third of the units will vest on the first anniversary, and two-thirds on the second anniversary, of the grant date. These restricted stock units are included in the table above.

As an inducement for Ms. Goodstein to join us, under the terms of her offer letter with us, we made an option grant to Ms. Goodstein covering 1,000,000 shares in September 2012. These shares are included in the table above.

In addition, as described in detail below under Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements our compensation committee approved a grant to Mr. Lazzaro of restricted stock units with an aggregate grant date fair value of \$150,000, vesting in equal annual installments over a two-year period commencing on the first anniversary of the May 1, 2012 date of grant. These restricted stock units are included in the table above.

On February 19, 2013, we entered into a Stock Option Cancellation Agreement with Mr. Lefar. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr. Lefar cancelled his existing pre-arranged stock trading plan adopted on August 22, 2012 in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Mr. Lefar also agreed to a one-year lock-up arrangement, under which, except under specified circumstances, he will not sell, pledge, or hedge any shares of our common stock without our prior written consent. The consummation of the agreement helps to facilitate the Company s goal of reducing the number of shares outstanding, and also minimizes the potential market impact of ongoing option exercises and sales.

In consideration of the foregoing, we cancelled vested, in-the-money options to purchase 4,500,000 shares of common stock, which had been previously awarded to Mr. Lefar under our 2006 Incentive Plan, in exchange for a cash payment. The payment represents an amount equal to (i) the aggregate difference between the closing price of the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on February 19, 2013 and the exercise price per share of each of the options, minus (ii) an amount equal to (X) \$0.04 per share multiplied by (Y) that number of whole shares of common stock covered by the options in excess of that number of shares of common stock required to cover the aggregate exercise price of the options, and resulted in proceeds to Mr. Lefar of \$5,462,805. The payment to Mr. Lefar reflects a discount, in favor of Vonage, on the closing price of the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on February 19, 2013.

Perquisites

We reimburse Mr. Lefar for travel expenses between our principal offices in Holmdel, New Jersey, our Atlanta, Georgia offices, the location of our business office for certain product management and development employees and where Mr. Lefar maintains his primary residence, and other business destinations. To the extent practicable, other employees of the company travel with Mr. Lefar. There is a maximum annual amount that may be used as reimbursement to Mr. Lefar for private air travel; this is calculated as the sum of the cost of a first-class fully refundable direct flight for such travel plus \$600,000. This maximum annual amount includes business travel for which Mr. Lefar recognizes no taxable income. Under the terms of Mr. Lefar s employment agreement, we also provide Mr. Lefar with a housing allowance to cover housing near our principal offices. In addition, we made an additional payment to relieve him of any tax liability related to the travel and expense reimbursements, as well as taxes in respect of the additional payment. We also pay the employee portion of premiums for medical, dental, and vision coverage for Mr. Lefar. These perquisites were the result of extensive negotiations, on an arms-length basis, with Mr. Lefar at the time he joined us in July 2008. At that time, a CEO search committee determined that Mr. Lefar was a uniquely well-qualified executive for Vonage, based on his tenure as Chief Marketing Officer for Cingular Wireless, as a marketing executive for Cable and Wireless Global and in senior leadership roles at Verizon Wireless and GTE Wireless, as well as his experience during nine years at Procter & Gamble. The CEO search committee believed that Mr. Lefar would provide the level of leadership and experience that was necessary to address the challenges facing our company, including increasing competition and the need to refinance our then outstanding convertible notes by December 2008. Moreover, the CEO search committee recognized that, in accepting employment with us, Mr. Lefar was relinquishing his consulting business. Based on the foregoing considerations, to secure the services of Mr. Lefar our compensation committee and our board of directors approved Mr. Lefar s employment agreement, including these perquisites. These perquisites are taken into account by our board of directors in establishing Mr. Lefar s overall level of compensation. See also the Summary Compensation Table and Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements below for additional information.

Our other named executive officers also negotiated for perquisites when hired. We paid the employee portion of premiums for medical, dental, and vision coverage for Mr. Rowan. We pay for or reimburse

44

Table of Contents

Mr. Lazzaro for travel expenses between Atlanta, Georgia, where we maintain an office and Mr. Lazzaro maintains his primary residence, and our principal offices and the cost of temporary housing near our principal offices and make an additional payment to relieve him of any related tax liability. We also agreed to reimburse Mr. Rogers for lodging accommodations near our principal offices and make an additional payment to relieve him of any related tax liability. Our incremental costs for the perquisites described above are shown in note 5 to the Summary Compensation Table.

We also maintain a 401(k) savings plan, which is a tax-qualified defined contribution plan available to all of our employees. Messrs. Lefar, Rowan, and Lazzaro participated in the plan in 2012. Under the plan, an employee may contribute, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, up to a maximum of \$17,000 of his or her annual compensation. In 2012, we provided a matching contribution equal to 50% of each dollar contributed by a participant, up to a maximum contribution of \$6,000. The matching contributions vest after three years following the date of employment. Employee and matching contributions are based on compensation up to annual limits established under the Internal Revenue Code (the eligible compensation limit was \$250,000 in 2012). Our matching contributions for the named executive officers are shown in note 5 to the Summary Compensation Table. We do not provide any supplemental retirement benefits.

Equity Grant Practices

We do not backdate grants of stock options, restricted stock units or restricted stock, nor do we time grants to coincide with the release of material non-public information about Vonage. For newly hired or promoted employees, stock options or restricted stock units are granted on the first trading day of the month immediately following the month in which the employee commences employment with us or the promotion is effective.

The compensation committee approves all grants of stock options and restricted stock units to executive officers and to other officers reporting directly to our Chief Executive Officer or our audit committee. The compensation committee delegated to our Chief Executive Officer and our Vice President of Human Resources or equivalent the ability to make equity grants (stock options or restricted stock units) aggregating up to 1,000,000 shares of common stock in any calendar year for new hires and promotions, in each case relating to employees at the Vice President level or below (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer) or the Senior Director level or below (in the case of the Vice President of Human Resources or equivalent). This delegated authority also is subject to limitations on individual awards, the highest of which provides for grants to a Vice President that may not exceed 125,000 shares in any calendar year. For new hire and promotion equity grants, a restricted stock unit is deemed to be equivalent to 1.79 shares. In addition, the compensation committee delegated to our Chief Executive Officer the ability to make equity grants (stock options or restricted stock units) aggregating up to 200,000 shares of common stock in any calendar year to reward exceptional achievements, address retention issues and support incentive programs, in each case relating to employees at the Vice President level or below.

Typically, in February of each year, the compensation committee considers the annual grant of stock options and, if applicable, restricted stock units. The compensation committee s practice has been to approve the making of the grant of these options and restricted stock units effective as of the first trading day in April.

For special grants, stock options or restricted stock units are granted on the first trading day of the month immediately following the month in which the options or restricted stock units are approved.

We set the exercise price of stock options based on the closing price of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant.

Post-Employment Compensation

We have benefit plans, employment and letter agreements, and other arrangements for our named executive officers that provide special benefits upon certain types of termination events. The employment agreements and letter agreements provide financial security, in the form of severance compensation and acceleration of vesting of prior equity grants, in the event the executive officer s employment is terminated without cause or his or her

45

responsibilities are significantly diminished. The agreements also provide clear statements of the rights of the executive officers and protect them against an unfavorable change in employment terms. Absent these provisions, there is an increased risk that executive officers may be encouraged to seek other employment opportunities if they became concerned about their employment security as a result of changes to our company or in the event of a change in control.

Moreover, we believe that the change in control benefits that we have provided to the executive officers, including severance and acceleration of vesting provisions, provide appropriate incentives for the executive officers to cooperate in negotiating any change in control of Vonage without regard to the potential effect on their positions. See Potential Post-Employment Payments for further information regarding change in control and termination benefits under the arrangements.

Section 162(m) and Other Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code limits to \$1 million the deductibility for federal income tax purposes of annual compensation paid by a publicly held company to its chief executive officer and other specified executives, unless certain conditions are met. We design our stock options so that they may be intended to preserve the deductibility of compensation paid to an executive through the exercise of stock options. While we may take actions in the future to preserve deductibility of other elements of compensation, we retain the flexibility to authorize compensation that may not be deductible if the compensation committee believes doing so is in the best interests of our company. While the compensation for Mr. Lefar exceeded the \$1 million deduction limit in 2012, we determined that this result was appropriate, based on the considerations regarding his compensation discussed above.

Under Mr. Lefar s employment agreement, if Mr. Lefar becomes liable for payment of any excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code with respect to any payment in connection with a change in control, we will make an additional payment to him. The additional payment to Mr. Lefar is designed so that, after payment of all excise taxes and any other taxes payable in respect of the additional payment, Mr. Lefar will retain the same amount as if no excise tax had been imposed. We believe that the payments relating to the excise tax were appropriate to preserve the intended benefits under the agreement, as well as the incentive for Mr. Lefar to enter into employment with us.

Stock Ownership Guidelines for Executives

In December 2010, our board of directors adopted stock ownership guidelines requiring our named executive officers, and certain other covered executives, to maintain a minimum equity stake in the company. Our board of directors believes that these requirements help to ensure an alignment of executive interests with those of stockholder interests and promote a focus on long-term growth. The following table shows required stock ownership levels for our named executive officers, which are measured on a quarterly basis:

Name	Stock Ownership Level
Marc P. Lefar	Lesser of 3.0x base salary or 1,200,000 shares
Barry L. Rowan	Lesser of 1.0x base salary or 190,000 shares
Barbara Goodstein	Lesser of 1.0x base salary or 160,000 shares
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	Lesser of 1.0x base salary or 140,000 shares
Kurt M. Rogers	Lesser of 1.0x base salary or 160,000 shares

Shares counted in the calculation to assess compliance with the guidelines include shares owned outright, including vested restricted stock units, and 75% of vested stock options (whether or not in-the-money). Each covered executive must retain 25% of net stock options exercised or stock delivered from vested restricted stock units until the guidelines are met. Executives may be exempted from the guidelines and/or the retention requirement due to financial hardship as determined by the compensation committee in its discretion. Although

46

Table of Contents

there is no required time period to achieve the guidelines, each of our named executive officers other than Ms. Goodstein, who joined the company in July 2012, meets the guidelines. It is anticipated that Ms. Goodstein will meet the guidelines in the second half of 2013.

Claw-back and Hedging Policies

We intend to adopt a formal claw-back policy enabling recovery or claw-back of incentive awards in the event of misstated or restated financial results after the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange issue final rules implementing the claw-back provisions set forth in the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

Our securities trading compliance policy prohibits all employees from engaging in certain highly speculative stock transactions, including entering into short sales of our common stock or buying or selling exchange-traded options (puts or calls) on our common stock.

Consideration of Say-on-Pay Voting Results

We are pleased that our shareholders approved our Say-on-Pay vote at our 2011 annual meeting. We have adopted, based on shareholder preferences, triennial voting and the next Say-on-Pay vote will be in 2014. We and our board of directors and compensation committee are committed to reviewing the results of our Say-on-Pay votes and to the extent action is taken with respect to our compensation policies in response to those results, we will report those actions in this space. Based on its ongoing review of our compensation policies, no changes were made in response to the approval of our Say-on-Pay vote at our 2011 annual meeting.

* * * * * * * *

47

Summary Compensation Table

Name and						Stock		Option		Ion-Equity Incentive Plan	,	All Other	
Principal Position	Year	Salary	F	Bonus (1)	A	wards (2)		•	Con	rian pensation C			5) Total
Marc P. Lefar Chief Executive Officer	2012 2011 2010	\$ 944,231 \$ 925,000 \$ 907,692	\$	1,000,000	\$ 2 \$	2,249,999 796,871	\$ 2	2,214,568 2,355,642 2,259,935	\$ \$	991,442 659,062 1,058,369	\$	836,849 862,387 801,662	\$ 7,237,089 \$ 5,598,962 \$ 6,027,658
Barry L. Rowan (6) Former Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, and Treasurer	2012 2011 2010	\$ 482,692 \$ 469,230 \$ 372,115	\$ \$	50,000 250,000	\$ \$	181,249 384,997		535,186 2,123,462 3,389,903	\$ \$ \$	337,885 234,615 549,000	\$ \$ \$	30,349 27,889 330,069	\$ 1,567,361 \$ 3,290,193 \$ 4,891,087
Barbara Goodstein (7) Chief Marketing Officer	2012	\$ 204,327					\$	1,583,433	\$	153,245			\$ 1,941,005
Nicholas P. Lazzaro Senior Vice President of Product Development and Information Technology & Managing Director, Mobile Services (8)	2012 2011 2010	\$ 384,808 \$ 351,539 \$ 329,615	\$	150,000 45,000	\$ \$ \$	331,249 225,000 74,994	\$ \$ \$	535,186 665,120 331,386	\$ \$ \$	161,619 105,462 190,000	\$	142,931 104,791 131,706	\$ 1,705,793 \$ 1,451,912 \$ 1,102,701
Kurt M. Rogers Chief Legal Officer and Secretary	2012 2011 2010	\$ 416,923 \$ 386,538 \$ 372,692	\$ \$ \$	75,000 100,000 75,000	\$ \$ \$	181,249 225,000 74,994	\$ \$ \$	535,186 665,120 331,386	\$ \$	175,108 115,962 273,000	\$ \$ \$	50,361 51,317 39,041	\$ 1,433,827 \$ 1,543,937 \$ 1,166,113

- (1) The following amounts represent sign-on bonuses paid to such persons upon joining us: \$175,000 of the amount for Mr. Rowan for 2010 and \$25,000 of the amount for Mr. Lazzaro for 2010. All other amounts reported represent discretionary cash bonuses earned during 2010, 2011, and 2012, as applicable. The bonuses earned in 2010, 2011, and 2012, as applicable, were paid in the first quarter of the subsequent year. Please see the section titled Annual Cash Bonuses in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for more information regarding our annual cash bonuses for 2012.
- (2) Stock awards consist only of restricted stock units. The dollar amounts for the awards represent the grant-date value calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718 (FASB ASC 718) by multiplying the number of shares of restricted stock awarded by the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant. Refer to Compensation Discussion and Analysis Long-Term Incentives for additional information. The grant-date fair value of the stock-based awards will likely vary from the actual amount the named executive officer receives. Actual gains, if any, on shares acquired upon vesting of units are dependent on other factors, including the unit holders continued employment with us through the vesting period, the future performance of our common stock, and overall stock market conditions. There can be no assurance that the values reflected in this table will be achieved.
- (3) The dollar amounts for the awards represent the grant-date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718 for each named executive officer. The assumptions used to calculate the value of stock options are set forth under Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 filed with the SEC on February 13, 2013. See Grants of Plan-Based Awards 2012 for further information including the exercise prices for awards made in 2012. Refer also to Compensation Discussion and Analysis Long-Term Incentives for additional information. The grant-date fair value of the stock option awards will likely vary from the actual value the named executive officer receives. Actual gains, if any, on shares acquired on option

exercises are dependent on other factors, including the option holder s continued employment with us through the option exercise period, the future performance of our common stock, and overall stock market conditions. There can be no assurance that the values reflected in this table will be achieved.

(4) The amounts in this column represent total performance-based bonuses earned for services rendered during 2010, 2011, and 2012. These bonuses were based on our financial performance. The bonuses earned in 2010, 2011, and 2012, as applicable, were paid in the first quarter of the subsequent year. Please see the section titled Annual Cash Bonuses in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for more information regarding our annual cash bonus for 2012.

48

(5) The amounts in this column (grossed-up for any payments to reimburse for related taxes to the extent applicable) consist of the following:

Name	Year	401(k) Match	Insurance and Medical Premiums	R F	Housing/ elocation Expense/ nbursement		Travel Expense/ nbursement	Patent Incentive Award	Total
Marc P. Lefar	2012 2011 2010	\$ 6,000 \$ 6,000 \$ 6,000	\$ 24,349 \$ 21,889 \$ 18,002	\$ \$ \$	145,792 146,236 149,222	\$ \$ \$	660,708* 688,262* 628,438*		\$ 836,849 \$ 862,387 \$ 801,662
Barry L. Rowan	2012 2011 2010	\$ 6,000 \$ 6,000 \$ 6,000	\$ 24,349 \$ 21,889 \$ 10,501	\$	313,568				\$ 30,349 \$ 27,889 \$ 330,069
Barbara Goodstein	2012								\$
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	2012 2011 2010	\$ 6,000 \$ 6,000 \$ 6,000		\$ \$ \$	63,267 55,212 64,119	\$ \$ \$	73,664 40,579 59,587	\$ 3,000 \$ 2,000	\$ 142,931 \$ 104,791 \$ 131,706
Kurt M. Rogers	2012 2011 2010			\$ \$ \$	50,361 51,317 39,041				\$ 50,361 \$ 51,317 \$ 39,041

^{*} Taxable income to Mr. Lefar relating to private travel was determined by using the Internal Revenue Service Standard Industry Fare Level tables, which is less than the amount listed in the table. To the extent practicable, other employees who spend time in our Atlanta, Georgia office, including Mr. Lazzaro, travel with Mr. Lefar; however, there is no additional incremental cost to us.

- (6) Mr. Rowan began serving as our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, and Treasurer in March 2010 and resigned effective in February 2013.
- (7) Ms. Goodstein began serving as our Chief Marketing Officer in July 2012.
- (8) Mr. Lazzaro resigned effective May 3, 2013.

The percentage of the Total column represented by each named executive officer s salary for each year is as follows:

2012 Salary as a % of Total	2011 Salary as a % of Total	2010 Salary as a % of Total
Compensation	Compensation	Compensation
13.1%	16.5%	15.1%
30.8%	14.3%	7.6%
10.5%		
22.6%	24.2%	29.9%
29.1%	25.1%	32.0%
	% of Total Compensation 13.1% 30.8% 10.5% 22.6%	% of Total Compensation % of Total Compensation 13.1% 16.5% 30.8% 14.3% 10.5% 22.6% 22.6% 24.2%

Grants of Plan-Based Awards 2012

			U	ated Possible nder Non-Eq tive Plan Awa	uity	All Other Stock Awards:	All Other Option Awards: Number of	Exercise or Base Price	Grant Date
	Grant	Date of Corporate	Minimum			Number of Shares of Stock or	Securities Underlying Options	of Option Awards	Fair Value of Stock and Option
Name	Date	Action	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Units (2)	(3)	(4)	Awards (5)
Marc P. Lefar	4/2/2012 4/2/2012 12/11/2012 2/10/2012	2/10/2012 2/10/2012 12/6/2012	\$ 712,500	\$ 1,425,000	\$ 2,493,750	333,333 612,244	1,298,701	\$ 2.25	\$ 2,214,568 \$ 749,999 \$ 1,500,000
Barry L. Rowan	4/2/2012 4/2/2012 2/9/2012	2/9/2012 2/9/2012	\$ 242,500	\$ 485,000	\$ 848,750	80,555	313,852	\$ 2.25	\$ 535,186 \$ 181,249
Barbara Goodstein	9/4/2012						1,000,000	2.11	\$ 1,583,433
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	4/2/2012 4/2/2012 5/1/2012 2/9/2012	2/9/2012 2/9/2012 4/17/2012	\$ 118,500	\$ 237,000	\$ 414,750	80,555 73,170	313,852	\$ 2.25	\$ 535,186 \$ 181,249 \$ 150,000
Kurt M. Rogers	4/2/2012 4/2/2012 2/9/2012	2/9/2012 2/9/2012	\$ 127,500	\$ 255,000	\$ 446,250	80,555	313,852	\$ 2.25	\$ 535,186 \$ 181,249

(1) As discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the annual cash bonus awards are attributable to financial performance measures, which are telephony services revenue weighted at 45% (40% for executives with an additional metric for their functional group), adjusted EBITDA weighted at 35% (30% for executives with an additional metric for their functional group). Mr. Lazzaro was the only named executive officer with a fourth metric weighted at 15% (platform availability). For Mr. Lefar, 15% of his target bonus was based upon an equal weighting of three additional metrics (COTS, platform availability, and Core Business Marketing and Selling Cost Per Gross Addition). The amount shown in the Target column represents a payout at the target bonus percentage for each named executive officer s 2012 base salary. For 2012, the target percentages were: 150% for Mr. Lefar; 100% for Mr. Rowan; and 60% for Messrs. Lazzaro and Rogers. Ms. Goodstein was paid at 100% attainment of her target bonus in 2012, prorated based on wage-based earnings for 2012. The amount shown in the Minimum Threshold column represents the amount payable if only the minimum level of company performance was attained for each metric applicable to the executive, which is 50% of the target amount shown above. If performance did not meet the minimum level of performance for any metric, then no bonus would have been paid. The amount shown in the Maximum column represents the amount payable if the maximum level of company performance was attained for all metrics applicable to the executive, which is 175% of the target amount shown.

Please see the section titled Annual Cash Bonuses in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for additional information including the minimum threshold, target, and maximum level of performance for each performance measure, the calculation of the award payable based upon actual performance in 2012, the amount of the award and award as a percentage of the target award opportunity, and discretionary adjustments.

The annual cash bonus payments under our bonus plan for 2012 are reflected in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table and include the portion attributable to discretionary adjustments.

- (2) Amounts in this column represent restricted stock units granted under our 2006 Incentive Plan. The restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 2, 2012, except for Mr. Lefar s December 11, 2012 grant, one-third of which vests on the first anniversary of December 11, 2012 and two-thirds of which vests on the second anniversary of December 11, 2012, and Mr. Lazzaro s May 1, 2012 grant, which vests in equal annual installments over a two-year period commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Please see the section titled Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements for a discussion of the acceleration of vesting of our restricted stock units in certain circumstances, including upon a change in control.
- (3) Amounts in this column represent stock options granted under our 2006 Incentive Plan. The options for each of the named executive officers vest in four equal annual installments. Please see the section titled Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements for a discussion of the

acceleration of vesting of our stock options in certain circumstances, including upon a change in control.

50

- (4) The amounts in this column represent the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant.
- (5) The value of a stock award or option award represents the grant-date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718. Stock awards consist only of restricted stock units. Actual gains, if any, on shares acquired upon vesting of restricted stock units or option exercises are dependent on other factors, including the holder s continued employment with us through the vesting period or option exercise period, the future performance of our common stock, and overall market conditions. There can be no assurance that the values reflected in this table will be achieved.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2012

		Option Awar		Stock A Number of	wards	
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable (1)	Option Exercise Price	Option Expiration Date	Shares or Units of Stock that Have Not Vested (1)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock that Have Not Vested (2)
Marc P. Lefar	6,200,000 750,000 750,000 1,000,000 160,660	250,000(3) 250,000(4) 1,000,000(5) 481,981(6) 1,298,701(7)	\$ 1.42 \$ 1.43 \$ 1.29 \$ 1.37 \$ 4.65 \$ 2.25	7/29/2018 9/1/2019 12/1/2019 4/1/2020 4/1/2021 4/2/2022	128,528(14) 333,333(15)	\$ 304,611 \$ 789,999
Barry L. Rowan	1,500,000 144,824	1,500,000(8) 434,476(9) 313,852(10)	\$ 1.37 \$ 4.65 \$ 2.25	2/14/2014 2/14/2014 2/14/2014	612,244(16) 62,097(14) 80,555(15)	\$ 1,451,018 \$ 147,170 \$ 190,915
Barbara Goodstein		1,000,000(13)	\$ 2.11	9/4/2022	00,555(15)	Ψ 170,713
Nicholas P. Lazzaro	337,500 146,635 45,362	112,500(12) 146,635(8) 136,089(9) 313,852(10)	\$ 0.42 \$ 1.37 \$ 4.65 \$ 2.25	4/1/2019 4/1/2020 4/1/2021 4/2/2022	27,370(17) 36,291(14) 80,555(15) 73,170(18)	\$ 64,867 \$ 86,010 \$ 190,915 \$ 173,413
Kurt M. Rogers	195,000 146,635 45,362	112,500(11) 146,635(8) 136,089(9) 313,852(10)	\$ 0.44 \$ 1.37 \$ 4.65 \$ 2.25	8/3/2019 4/1/2020 4/1/2021 4/2/2022	27,370(17) 36,291(14) 80,555(15)	\$ 64,867 \$ 86,010 \$ 190,915

⁽¹⁾ Please see the section titled Potential Post-Employment Payments Employment and Related Agreements for a discussion of the acceleration of our option and stock awards upon a change in control.

(2) Based on the closing price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012 of \$2.37, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

51

Table of Contents

- The options vest in equal annual installments on the calendar day before the first through fourth anniversaries of September 1, 2009. (4) The options vest in equal annual installments on the calendar day before the first through fourth anniversaries of December 1, 2009. The options vest in equal annual installments on the calendar day before the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2010. The options vest in equal annual installments on the calendar day before the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2011. (6) The options vest in equal annual installments on the calendar day before the first through fourth anniversaries of April 2, 2012. The options vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2010. The options vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2011. (10) The options vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 2, 2012. (11) The options vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of August 3, 2009. (12) The options vested in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2009. (13) The options vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of September 4, 2012. (14) The restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2011. (15) The restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 2, 2012.
- (16) The restricted stock units vest one-third on the first anniversary and two-third on the second anniversary of December 11, 2012.
- (17) The restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of April 1, 2010.
- (18) The restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments on the first through fourth anniversaries of May 1, 2012.

 Option Exercises and Stock Vested 2012

Option Awards Stock Awards

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form DEF 14A

	Number of Shares Acquired on	Value Realized on	Number of Shares Acquired on	Valu	ne Realized on
	Exercise	Exercise	Vesting	,	Vesting
Name	(#)	(\$)(1)	(#)		(\$)(2)
Marc P. Lefar		\$	42,842	\$	94,681
Barry L. Rowan		\$	20,698	\$	45,743
Barbara Goodstein		\$		\$	
Nicholas P. Lazzaro		\$	25,781	\$	56,976
Kurt M. Rogers	30,000	\$ 54,487	25,781	\$	56,976

- (1) Value realized upon exercise is based on the closing sales price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the applicable exercise date.
- (2) Value realized upon vesting is based on the closing sales price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the applicable vesting date.

Impact of Compensation Policies on Risk Management

Our compensation committee, with the assistance of an independent compensation consultant, reviewed our compensation policies and practices for our employees, including executive officers, and determined that our compensation policies and practices are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us. Our compensation committee noted several aspects of the design of our compensation program that reduce the likelihood of excessive risk-taking:

The program design provides a balanced mix of cash and equity, and annual and longer-term incentives, which we believe is consistent with practices of comparable companies.

We set varied performance goals that we believe are reasonable in light of past performance, future projections, market conditions, analyst expectations, and our debt covenants. These performance goals encourage a balanced emphasis on growth, profitability, and operational performance. If management overemphasized any single metric which increased risk to our long-term performance, it would likely be at the expense of other metrics resulting in a reduction in compensation. This balanced approach helps to mitigate risk and drive long-term performance.

Performance goals are team oriented rather than individually focused, and tied to measurable factors that are both transparent to stockholders and drivers of their returns.

Assuming achievement of at least a minimum level of performance, payouts under our performance-based plans result in some compensation at levels below full target achievement, rather than an all-or-nothing approach.

Maximum payout levels for bonuses based upon performance are capped (on each measure and overall).

Our compensation committee has discretion to adjust bonus payouts, including making downward adjustments.

In addition to stock options with exercise prices at market value on the date of grant, we use restricted stock units for equity awards because restricted stock units retain value even in a depressed market so that executives are less likely to take unreasonable risks to get, or keep, options in-the-money.

Four-year ratable vesting of equity awards limits employee ability to benefit from short-term risky behavior and encourages long-term decision making and value creation.

Under our stock ownership guidelines, each named executive officer is required to own a number of shares of company common stock having a value equal to the lesser of a multiple of his or her base salary or a fixed amount of shares ranging from 140,000 to 1,200,000 shares.

Our securities trading compliance policy prohibits all employees from engaging in certain highly speculative stock transactions, including entering into short sales of our common stock or buying or selling exchange-traded options (puts or calls) on our common stock.

Potential Post-Employment Payments

The following are descriptions of our employment arrangements with our named executive officers. The table following the description of our employment arrangements quantifies the potential payments and benefits to which the named executive officer would be entitled to under our arrangements with them for various scenarios involving a termination of employment or change-in-control. The amounts shown are estimated amounts that assume that the termination or change-in-control was effective as of December 31, 2012, and thus include amounts earned through such time. The actual amounts to be paid out can only be determined at the time of such executive s separation.

Employment and Related Agreements

Marc P. Lefar

We are party to an agreement with Mr. Lefar providing for his employment, as Chief Executive Officer, for an initial term of three years, that was initially entered into in July 2008 and amended in November 2009. In accordance with the terms of that agreement, the term now automatically renews each July for additional one-year periods, unless either party gives notice prior to a stated period before the end of the then-current term. In the event of a change in control, the term will also be automatically extended until the first anniversary of the change of control if the term would otherwise be terminated within such one-year period, subject to automatic annual renewals as described above. As Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Lefar reports to our board of directors. All of our employees report to Mr. Lefar or one of his designees.

Under his employment agreement, Mr. Lefar is entitled to receive an annual base salary that is currently \$975,000 and is subject to further review for increase not less often than annually by our compensation committee. Mr. Lefar is eligible to receive an annual performance-based bonus in accordance with our annual bonus program for senior executives. As required by the agreement, a review of Mr. Lefar s target annual bonus was conducted in February 2013 and the target annual bonus set at 150% for 2013. In addition, Mr. Lefar s employment agreement provides for certain perquisites as described fully under Perquisites above.

During the term of his employment agreement, if we terminate Mr. Lefar s employment without cause or he resigns with good reason or if Mr. Lefar receives notice of non-renewal of his employment agreement with us and, in each case, Mr. Lefar provides us with a general release of claims, he will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination, an amount equal to two times his base salary (one year in the event of non-renewal of Mr. Lefar s employment agreement), payment of medical, dental, and vision continuation coverage premiums for Mr. Lefar and his dependents under COBRA in excess of the amount he would have paid if he were an active employee for the COBRA continuation coverage period until he receives such coverage from another employer, and up to \$50,000 of outplacement services. If Mr. Lefar s employment is terminated by reason of death or disability he will be entitled to a prorated annual bonus for the year of termination and an amount equal to his base salary for one year (reduced by the projected net amount of any disability benefits received by Mr. Lefar under our group disability policy).

Consistent with the employment agreement, the option agreements governing stock option grants made to Mr. Lefar provide that upon a change of control, all outstanding unvested options granted to Mr. Lefar will become fully vested and exercisable immediately prior to such change of control. Upon termination of Mr. Lefar s employment without cause or by Mr. Lefar for good reason (in either case, other than in the context of a change of control), then for these options, an additional amount will vest and become immediately exercisable equal to the number of options that would vest on the next vesting tranche multiplied by a fraction where (1) the numerator is 12 plus the number of full and fractional months that had elapsed between the option vesting date immediately prior to such termination and such termination date and (2) the denominator is 12. Upon a non-renewal of the employment agreement by us, Mr. Lefar will vest pro rata in the next vesting tranche to the extent he continues to be employed by us beyond the expiration of the term of the employment agreement, such pro rata portion to be based on the full and fractional months that elapse from the day immediately after the expiration of such term through his termination of employment with us. The option agreements for options granted to Mr. Lefar prior to 2011 provide for the vesting of one-half of unvested shares covered by the options upon Mr. Lefar s death or disability and that outstanding options will remain exercisable for one year, or until the end of the term of the option, if earlier. The option agreement for Mr. Lefar s option grants in 2011 and after provide for the vesting of one-half of unvested shares covered by the options upon Mr. Lefar s death or disability and that outstanding options will remain exercisable until the end of the term of the option. Upon a termination of Mr. Lefar s employment by us without cause or for non-renewal, or by Mr. Lefar for good reason, all outstanding options granted to Mr. Lefar will, to the extent vested, remain exercisable for at least 180 days after the termination, or until the end of the term of the option, if earlier. Upon a termination of Mr. Lefar s employment by Mr. Lefar without good reason, all vested outstanding options granted by us to Mr. Lefar will remain exercisable for at least 60 days after termination, or until the end of the term of the option, if earlier.

54

Table of Contents

In addition, the agreements governing restricted stock unit grants made to Mr. Lefar provide that upon a change of control, all outstanding restricted stock units granted to Mr. Lefar will become fully vested upon such change of control. Upon termination of Mr. Lefar s employment without cause or by Mr. Lefar for good reason (in either case, other than in the context of a change of control), for the restricted stock units, an additional amount will vest equal to the number of restricted stock units that would vest on the next vesting tranche multiplied by a fraction where (1) the numerator is 12 plus the number of full and fractional months that had elapsed between the vesting date immediately prior to such termination and such termination date and (2) the denominator is 12. Upon termination of Mr. Lefar s employment in the event of death or disability 50% of unvested stock options and restricted stock units covered by those agreements vest.

The employment agreement provides that Mr. Lefar will receive an additional payment to reimburse him for any excise taxes imposed pursuant to Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, together with reimbursement for any additional taxes incurred by reason of such payments.

Under the terms of Mr. Lefar s employment agreement, he has agreed not to disclose any confidential information concerning our business. In addition, Mr. Lefar has agreed not to solicit or to interfere with our relationship with any of our employees, officers or representatives or to interfere with our relationship with any of our customers, clients, suppliers, licensees or other business relations until 12 months following termination of his employment. Furthermore, Mr. Lefar has entered into a noncompetition agreement pursuant to which he has agreed not to provide services to the portion of any entity that sells and markets residential/home broadband connectivity or broadband voice service as an employee thereof or as a direct individual consultant thereto (or through an entity specifically formed for such activity) until 12 months following termination of his employment.

Barry L. Rowan

We entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Rowan that provided for Mr. Rowan s employment for an annual base salary set at \$485,000 for 2012. Mr. Rowan was eligible for an annual cash bonus in accordance with our annual bonus program, with a target bonus of 100% of his base salary. Mr. Rowan also participated in our employee benefit plans on the same basis as available to other senior executives or in certain circumstances on the same basis as available to our Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Rowan s employment was for an indefinite term subject to termination by him or by us upon 30 days notice. In the event Mr. Rowan s employment was terminated without cause or he resigned with good reason, he would have been entitled to severance benefits equal to one year s base salary plus his target bonus amount for the year in which his employment terminates, payable over a 12 month period, and a pro rata share (based on the portion of the year elapsed) of his bonus for the year in which his employment terminated, payable when, as and if under our bonus program such bonus would otherwise be paid. Mr. Rowan provided notice of his resignation on December 5, 2012, which was effective as of February 14, 2013. Mr. Rowan was not entitled to any severance payments under his employment agreement.

Consistent with the employment agreement, the option agreements governing stock option grants made to Mr. Rowan provide that upon a change of control, all outstanding unvested options granted to Mr. Rowan would have become fully vested and exercisable immediately prior to such change of control. If Mr. Rowan s employment was terminated by us without cause or by Mr. Rowan for good reason, then all or a portion of his options then unvested would have vested; the options would have been equal to the number of options that would vest on the next vesting tranche multiplied by a fraction where (1) the numerator is 12 plus the number of full and fractional months that had elapsed between the vesting date immediately prior to such termination and such termination date and (2) the denominator is 12. The option agreements for Mr. Rowan s option grants provided for the vesting of one-half of unvested shares covered by the options upon Mr. Rowan s death or disability and that outstanding options would remain exercisable until the end of the term of the option. In certain limited circumstances, if Mr. Rowan s employment would have been considered to have terminated in connection with a change of control of us and benefits payable to Mr. Rowan became subject to excise taxes, he would have been entitled to additional cash payments from us sufficient to satisfy all the excise and any related income taxes to which he became subject.

55

Table of Contents

In addition, the agreements governing restricted stock unit grants made to Mr. Rowan provided that upon a change of control, all outstanding restricted stock units granted to Mr. Rowan would have become fully vested upon such change of control. Upon termination of Mr. Rowan s employment without cause or by Mr. Rowan for good reason (in either case, other than in the context of a change of control), for the restricted stock units, an additional amount would have vested equal to the number of restricted stock units that would have vested on the next vesting tranche multiplied by a fraction where (1) the numerator is 12 plus the number of full and fractional months that had elapsed between the vesting date immediately prior to such termination and such termination date and (2) the denominator is 12. Upon termination of Mr. Rowan s employment in the event of death or disability 50% of unvested stock options and restricted stock units covered by those agreements would have vested.

In connection with his resignation effective February 14, 2013, Mr. Rowan forfeited all unvested stock options and restricted stock units. Vonage did agree to extend the period in which Mr. Rowan may exercise his vested options after termination to the first anniversary of his resignation date.

Mr. Rowan has entered into our forms of confidentiality and innovations agreement and non-competition agreement.

Barbara Goodstein

We and Ms. Goodstein entered into a letter agreement at the commencement of her employment with us. The letter agreement provides that in the event Ms. Goodstein s employment is terminated by us without cause or by her for good reason she is entitled to severance benefits equal to twelve months of base salary payable by us during our regular payroll cycle over the twelve month period following termination of employment. Ms. Goodstein entered into our forms of confidentiality and innovations agreement and non-competition agreement.

Kurt M. Rogers

We and Mr. Rogers entered into a letter agreement at the commencement of his employment with us (which was subsequently amended by Mr. Rogers and us in December 2010 and March 2012). The letter agreement, as amended, provides that in the event Mr. Rogers employment is terminated by us without cause or by him for good reason he is entitled to severance benefits equal to twelve months of base salary payable by us during our regular payroll cycle over the twelve month period following termination of employment and a pro-rated portion of his target bonus payable by us during our regular payroll cycle over the six month period following termination of employment. Mr. Rogers is also entitled to reimbursement of lodging accommodations when Mr. Rogers is working out of our headquarters. We also reimburse Mr. Rogers for any taxes in respect of the lodging accommodations. Mr. Rogers entered into our form of confidentiality and innovations agreement.

Nicholas P. Lazzaro

We and Mr. Lazzaro entered into a letter agreement at the commencement of his employment with us (which was subsequently amended by Mr. Lazzaro and us in December 2010 and April 2012). The letter agreement, as amended, provides that in the event Mr. Lazzaro s employment is terminated by us without cause or by him for good reason he is entitled to severance benefits equal to twelve months of base salary payable by us during our regular payroll cycle over the twelve month period following termination of employment and a pro-rated portion of his target bonus payable by us during our regular payroll cycle over the six month period following termination of employment. Mr. Lazzaro is also entitled to air travel to and from our headquarters and his Atlanta, Georgia residence. In addition, we provide a corporate apartment when Mr. Lazzaro is working out of our headquarters and airport transportation services. We also reimburse Mr. Lazzaro for any taxes in respect of the air travel and corporate apartment. Mr. Lazzaro entered into our forms of confidentiality and innovations agreement and non-competition agreement.

56

Table of Contents

On April 17, 2012, we entered into a Second Amendment to Offer Letter with Mr. Lazzaro. In approving the changes to our compensation arrangements with Mr. Lazzaro, our compensation committee considered his increased responsibilities for our mobile business beginning in April 2012, his responsibility for the execution of our mobile initiatives including our Vonage Mobile iPhone and Android applications, and his continuing oversight of product development and information technology. The Second Amendment provided for (i) an increase in the annual base salary to \$395,000 from \$370,000 and (ii) a one-time cash incentive award of \$150,000 subject to a clawback provision providing for repayment of the cash incentive award in the event of certain terminations of Mr. Lazzaro s employment. In conjunction with the execution of the Second Amendment, the compensation committee approved a grant to Mr. Lazzaro of restricted stock units with an aggregate grant date fair value of \$150,000, vesting in equal annual installments over a two-year period commencing on the first anniversary of the May 1, 2012 date of grant.

In connection with his resignation effective May 3, 2013, Mr. Lazzaro forfeited all unvested stock options and restricted stock units

Acceleration of Vesting of Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units Ms. Goodstein and Messrs. Rogers and Lazzaro

The option and restricted stock unit agreements for Ms. Goodstein, Mr. Rogers and Mr. Lazzaro provide for acceleration of vesting of (i) 100% of unvested stock options and restricted stock units covered by those agreements in the event of termination of employment without cause or for good reason prior to the first anniversary of a change in control and (ii) 50% of unvested stock options and restricted stock units covered by those agreements in the event of death or disability.

57

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change-in-Control

The following table quantifies potential payments to our named executive officers upon termination of employment or change-in-control assuming the triggering event took place on December 31, 2012, the last business day of our last completed fiscal year. Barry Rowan ceased to be our Chief Financial Officer in February 2013 and did not receive any payments reported on this table upon termination. Nicholas Lazzaro ceased to be our Senior Vice President of Product Development and Information Technology & Managing Director, Mobile Services effective May 3, 2013 and did not receive any payments reported on this table upon termination.

Name	Cash Severance Payment	Bonus	Acceleration of Stock Options (Unvested) (1)	Acceleration of Restricted Stock Units (Unvested) (2)	Continuation of Medical/ Dental and Vision Benefits	Outplacement Services	Excise Tax Gross-up	Total Termination Benefits
Marc P. Lefar Termination without cause or resignation for good reason Non-renewal of employment Termination upon death or disability Termination without cause or	\$ 1,900,000 \$ 950,000 \$ 950,000	\$ 991,442 \$ 991,442 \$ 991,442	\$ 1,418,961 \$ 830,422	\$ 693,522 \$ 1,272,814	\$ 24,349 \$ 24,349	\$ 50,000 \$ 50,000	·	\$ 5,078,274 \$ 2,015,791 \$ 4,044,678
resignation for good reason following a change in control	\$ 1,900,000	\$ 991,442	\$ 1,660,844	\$ 2,545,629	\$ 24,349	\$ 50,000	\$ 3,332,302	\$ 10,504,566
Barry L. Rowan Termination without cause or resignation for good reason Termination upon death or disability Termination without cause or resignation for good reason following	\$ 970,000	\$ 337,885 \$ 337,885	\$ 1,321,916 \$ 768,831	\$ 112,116 \$ 169,043				\$ 2,741,917 \$ 1,275,759
a change in control	\$ 970,000	\$ 337,885	\$ 1,537,662	\$ 338,085				\$ 3,183,632
Barbara Goodstein Termination without cause or resignation for good reason Termination upon death or disability Termination without cause or resignation for good reason following a change in control	\$ 425,000 \$ 425,000		\$ 130,000 \$ 260,000					\$ 425,000 \$ 130,000 \$ 685,000
Nicholas P. Lazzaro Termination without cause or resignation for good reason Termination upon death or disability Termination without cause or resignation for good reason following a change in control	\$ 395,000 \$ 395,000	\$ 237,000 \$ 237,000	\$ 201,836 \$ 403,672	\$ 257,602 \$ 515,205				\$ 632,000 \$ 459,438 \$ 1,550,877
Kurt M. Rogers Termination without cause or resignation for good reason Termination upon death or disability Termination without cause or	\$ 425,000	\$ 255,000	\$ 200,711	\$ 170,896				\$ 680,000 \$ 371,607
resignation for good reason following a change in control	\$ 425,000	\$ 255,000	\$ 401,422	\$ 341,792				\$ 1,423,214

⁽¹⁾ The payments relating to stock options represent the value of unvested stock options as of December 31, 2012 that would be accelerated upon a change in control or termination of employment, calculated by multiplying the number of shares underlying unvested options by the excess of the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2012 (\$2.37) over the exercise price.

(2) The payments relating to restricted stock units represent the value of unvested and accelerated restricted stock units as of December 31, 2012 calculated by multiplying the number of unvested shares by the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2012 (\$2.37).

58

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We use a combination of cash and equity-based compensation to attract and retain qualified candidates to serve on our board of directors. In setting director compensation, we consider the significant amount of time that our directors expend in fulfilling their duties as well as the skill-level required by us of members of our board.

Cash Compensation Paid to Board Members

Directors annual retainer fees for 2012 were as follows:

Chairman of the Board annual retainer (in lieu of board and committee meeting fees)*	\$ 125,000
Base annual retainer for all other non-employee directors*	\$ 50,000
Additional annual retainers*:	
Lead director and audit committee chairperson	\$ 25,000
Other audit committee members	\$ 5,000
Compensation committee chairperson and nominating and governance committee chairperson	\$ 10,000
Retainer for special committee (one-time upon appointment)	\$ 5,000

^{*} Pro-rated for actual service during the twelve-month period covered by the retainer.

Board and board committee meeting fees for 2012 for non-employee directors were as follows:	
Fees per in person board meeting attended (in person or telephonic participation)	\$ 3,000
Fees per in person standing board committee meeting (in person or telephonic participation):	
Audit committee	
Chairperson	\$ 3,000
Other member	\$ 2,000
Compensation committee	
Chairperson	\$ 2,500
Other member	\$ 2,000
Nominating and governance committee	
Chairperson	\$ 2,500
Other member	\$ 2,000
Fees per in person special committee meeting (in person or telephonic participation)	\$ 2,000
Fees per telephonic meeting attended:	
Telephonic audit committee meetings to review quarterly and annual SEC filings	\$ 2,000
All other telephonic Board and Committee meetings (including Special Committee meetings)	\$ 1,000

We reimburse all directors for reasonable and necessary expenses they incur in performing their duties as directors of our company. In addition, our board of directors has authority to make payments to directors performing services determined by our board of directors, upon recommendation of the nominating and governance committee, to be extraordinary services which significantly exceed customary and routine services performed by a director, in an amount determined by our board of directors to be appropriate compensation for the services performed. We also provide health, vision and dental benefits to our Chairman of the Board.

Equity-Based Grants to Board Members and Stock Ownership Guidelines for Directors

On the date they commence service on our board of directors, newly elected directors receive an option to purchase 150,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of the grant. The stock option vests over a period

Table of Contents 87

59

of four years, vesting as to 25% of the underlying shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant and as to the remaining underlying shares in equal quarterly installments thereafter. The stock options vest in full upon a change in control.

For 2012, on the first day of each quarter, non-employee directors of our company were awarded fully vested options to purchase 10,000 shares of our common stock (15,000 shares for Mr. Citron) at an exercise price equal to the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, or if such date is not a trading day, the closing selling price on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant. In addition, on the first day of each quarter, non-employee directors of our company were awarded \$10,000 of restricted stock (1.5x such share amount of restricted stock for Mr. Citron). The stock price used to calculate the number of shares of stock to be granted, all of which are fully vested, is the closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, or if such date is not a trading day, the closing selling price on the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant. In order to be eligible for grants, a non-employee director must have served on our board for the entire previous quarter. Vested options are exercisable for two years after termination of service as a director. All unvested options vest upon a change of control if the director is serving at the time of the event.

Our board of directors has adopted stock ownership guidelines requiring our non-employee directors to maintain a minimum equity stake in the company. Our board of directors believes that these requirements help to ensure an alignment of director interests with those of stockholder interests and promote a focus on long-term growth. Non-employee directors must maintain a stock ownership level equal to the lesser of (i) three times our annual board retainer or (ii) 60,000 shares. Shares included in the calculation to assess compliance with the guidelines include shares owned outright and 75% of vested stock options (whether or not in-the-money). Each non-employee director must retain 25% of net stock options exercised or stock delivered from vested restricted stock units until the guidelines are met. All non-employee directors have met the guidelines other than Mr. Fisher, who joined our board of directors in January 2013, and Ms. Smyth who joined our board of directors in September 2012. Directors may be exempted from the guidelines and/or the retention ratio due to financial hardship as determined by the compensation committee in its discretion.

2012 Director Compensation

The following table summarizes the compensation paid by us to non-employee directors for the year ended December 31, 2012.

	Fees Earned or				
	Paid in	Stock	Option	All Other	
Name	Cash	Awards (1)	Awards (2)	Compensation	Total
Jeffrey A. Citron	\$ 125,000	\$ 59,988	\$ 101,592	\$ 24,349(3)	\$ 310,929
Peter Barris (4)	\$ 82,000	\$ 29,996	\$ 50,648		\$ 162,644
Morton David	\$ 101,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 208,722
Michael A. Krupka	\$ 106,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 213,722
Jeffrey J. Misner	\$ 110,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 217,722
David C. Nagel	\$ 73,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 180,722
Joseph M. Redling	\$ 74,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 181,722
John J. Roberts	\$ 108,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 215,722
Carl Sparks	\$ 75,000	\$ 39,994	\$ 67,728		\$ 182,722
Margaret M. Smyth (5)	\$ 45,832		\$ 253,274		\$ 299,106

(1) Stock awards consist only of restricted stock. The amounts shown do not reflect compensation actually received by the directors. Instead, the amounts shown are the grant date fair value, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718 by multiplying the number of shares of restricted stock awarded by the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant.

60

- (2) The amounts shown do not reflect compensation actually received by the directors. Instead, the amounts shown are the grant date fair value with respect to stock options, computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718. The assumptions used to calculate the value of stock options are set forth under Note 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 filed with the SEC on February 13, 2013. Actual gains, if any, on shares acquired upon option exercises are dependent on other factors, including the holder s continued board service through the option exercise period, the future performance of our common stock, and overall market conditions. There can be no assurance that the values reflected in this table will be achieved. For Ms. Smyth, the amounts shown include the grant date fair value of their initial grant of options to purchase 150,000 shares of our common stock computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718.
- (3) This amount represents health, vision and dental benefits.
- (4) Mr. Barris resigned from the board in September 2012.
- (5) Mrs. Smyth became a director in September 2012.As of December 31, 2012, each director held options for the following aggregate number of shares:

Name	Number of Shares Underlying Outstanding Stock Options
Jeffrey A. Citron*	236,250
Peter Barris**	396,787
Morton David	170,537
Michael A. Krupka	218,750
Jeffrey J. Misner	211,250
David C. Nagel	230,000
Joseph M. Redling	200,000
John J. Roberts	406,787
Carl Sparks	210,000
Margaret M. Smyth	150.000

^{*} Represents options granted under our director compensation programs. Excludes 4,544,597 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options held by Mr. Citron, issued when he was an executive officer of the Company. See Stock Ownership Information below for more information regarding the equity ownership of our officers and directors.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information about the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2012.

Plan Category

Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options and Rights Weighted-average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options and Rights Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (excluding securities reflected in column

^{**} Mr. Barris resigned from the Board of Directors effective September 6, 2012.

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form DEF 14A

			(a))
	(a)	(b)	(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by			
security holders	43,582,753	\$ 2.14	12,279,208(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders (2)			
Total	43,582,753	\$ 2.14	12,279,208(1)

- (1) On March 11, 2008, the Board terminated Vonage s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of March 6, 2008. All shares of our common stock that remained available for issuance under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan as of the effective date of the plan s termination became available for issuance under the 2006 Incentive Plan. The termination of the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan did not affect any stock options or restricted stock awards previously granted under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. Since June 2011, the maximum number of shares of our common stock that are authorized for issuance under our 2006 Incentive Plan are 66,400,000. In addition, any shares underlying 2001 Stock Incentive Plan options that are canceled or expire without exercise will become available for issuance under the 2006 Incentive Plan, subject to the 66,400,000 maximum. Awards under the 2006 Incentive Plan may include restricted stock, unrestricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance shares or other equity-based awards, as our board of directors or compensation committee may determine.
- (2) We have no equity compensation plans not approved by our stockholders.

STOCK OWNERSHIP INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 12, 2013 by:

each person or group who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock;

each of our directors and director nominees:

each of our named executive officers, as defined under SEC rules; and

all of our current directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Shares of common stock subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of April 12, 2013 are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding the options for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

Unless otherwise indicated, each of the stockholders listed below has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned. Except as indicated below, the address for each stockholder, director or named executive officer is 23 Main Street, Holmdel, New Jersey 07733.

62

This table assumes 212,434,614 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 12, 2013, assuming no exercise of outstanding options.

	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage of Shares Beneficially Owned
Beneficial Owners of More than 5%		
Jeffrey A. Citron (1)	45,518,246	21.1%
The Vanguard Group, Inc. (2)	10,991,027	5.2%
Wellington Management Company, LLP (3)	19,661,417	9.3%
Directors, Director Nominees, and Named Executive Officers		
Jeffrey A. Citron (1)	45,518,246	21.1%
Marc P. Lefar (4)	4,698,898	2.2%
Barry L. Rowan (5)	10,000	*
Nicholas P. Lazzaro (6)	783,276	*
Kurt M. Rogers (7)	640,581	*
Barbara Goodstein (8)		*
Morton David (9)	528,329	*
Stephen Fisher (10)		*
Michael A. Krupka (11)	2,349,784	1.1%
Jeffrey J. Misner (12)	333,137	*
David C. Nagel (13)	235,864	*
Joseph M. Redling (14)	168,923	*
John J. Roberts (15)	461,192	*
Carl Sparks (16)	190,500	*
Margaret Smyth (17)	22,112	*
All directors and executive officers as a group (17 persons) (17)	56,789,718	25.3%

Less than one percent.

- (1) Includes (i) 7,359,601 shares owned by Kyra Elyse Citron 1999 Descendants Annuity Trust; (ii) 7,363,999 shares owned by Noah Aidan Citron 1999 Descendants Annuity Trust; (iii) 178,959 shares of common stock owned by KEC Holdings; (iv) 2,000,000 shares held by a charitable organization for which Mr. Citron serves as a director; and (v) 3,732,186 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options. With respect to the shares held by the charitable organization, Mr. Citron disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares.
- (2) Based on a Schedule 13G filed February 11, 2013 by The Vanguard Group, Inc. disclosing sole voting power over 251,786 shares of common stock, sole power to dispose of or direct the disposition of 10,742,741 shares of common stock and shared power to dispose of or direct the disposition of 248,286 shares of common stock. The address of The Vanguard Group, Inc. is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355.
- (3) Based on an amendment to Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2013 by Wellington Management Company, LLP disclosing shared voting power over 8,744,447 shares of common stock and shared power to dispose of or direct the disposition of 19,661,417 shares of common stock. The address of Wellington Management Company, LLP is 280 Congress Street, Boston, MA 02210.
- (4) Includes 4,609,438 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (5) Based on April 14, 2013 response to questionnaire.

- (6) Includes 727,140 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (7) Includes 584,140 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (8) Includes no shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (9) Includes 170,537 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

63

Table of Contents

- (10) Includes no shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (11) Includes: (i) 2,001,647 shares as described below for entities associated with Bain Capital and (ii) 218,750 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options. Shares for entities associated with Bain Capital include (a) 1,747,634 shares owned by Bain Capital Venture Fund 2005, L.P., whose sole general partner is Bain Capital Venture Partners 2005, L.P. (BCVP), whose sole general partner is Bain Capital Venture Investors, LLC (BCVI); (b) 247,371 shares owned by BCIP Associates III, LLC, whose manager is BCIP Associates III, whose sole managing general partner is Bain Capital Investors, LLC (BCI) and whose attorney-in-fact with respect to such shares is BCVI; (c) 6,642 shares owned by BCIP Associates III-B, LLC, whose manager is BCIP Associates III-B, whose sole managing partner is BCI and whose attorney-in-fact with respect to such shares is BCVI; Mr. Krupka is the sole managing member of BCVI. Mr. Krupka is (a) a limited partner of BCVP, (b) a member of BCI and BCVI, and (c) a general partner of BCIP Associates III. Mr. Krupka and the entities listed above other than record holders of the shares listed above may each be deemed to share voting and dispositive power with respect to these shares, but each disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interests therein. The address of each listed entity and individual is 111 Huntington Avenue, Boston, MA 02199.
- (12) Includes 211,250 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (13) Includes 183,125 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (14) Includes 125,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (15) Includes 406,787 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (16) Includes 144,375 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.
- (17) Includes no shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options.

64

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, executive officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC reports regarding their ownership and changes in ownership of our securities. We believe that, during fiscal year 2012, our directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements.

In making these statements, we have relied upon examination of the copies of Forms 3, 4 and 5, and amendments thereto, provided to us and the written representations of our directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders.

65

APPENDIX A

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

2006 INCENTIVE PLAN

(as amended and restated through June 6, 2013)

1. Purposes of the Plan

The purposes of the Plan are to (a) promote the long-term success of the Company and its Subsidiaries and to increase stockholder value by providing Eligible Persons with incentives to contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of the Company by offering them an opportunity to obtain a proprietary interest in the Company through the grant of equity-based and other incentive awards and (b) assist the Company in attracting, retaining and motivating highly qualified individuals who are in a position to make significant contributions to the Company and its Subsidiaries.

2. Definitions and Rules of Construction

(a) Definitions

For purposes of the Plan, the following capitalized words shall have the meanings set forth below:

Affiliate means any Parent or Subsidiary.

Annual Award means an Award granted pursuant to Section 11 of the Plan.

Award means an Option, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit, Stock Appreciation Right, Performance Stock, Performance Unit, Annual Award or Other Award granted by the Committee pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

Award Document means an agreement, certificate or other type or form of document or documentation approved by the Committee that sets forth the terms and conditions of an Award. An Award Document may be in written, electronic or other media, may be limited to a notation on the books and records of the Company and, unless the Committee requires otherwise, need not be signed by a representative of the Company or a Participant.

Beneficial Owner has the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.

Board means the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.

Change of Control means:

- (i) Any Person becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 30 percent or more of the combined voting power of the Company s then outstanding securities; or
- (ii) The following individuals cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the number of directors then serving: individuals who, on the Effective Date, constitute the Board and any new director (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an actual or threatened election contest, including, but not limited to, a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors of the Company) whose appointment or election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company s stockholders was approved or recommended by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then still in office who either were directors on the Effective Date or whose appointment, election or nomination for election was previously so approved or recommended; or
- (iii) There is consummated a merger or consolidation of the Company or any Subsidiary with any other corporation, other than (A) a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation

continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding

A-1

Table of Contents

securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, more than 50 percent of the combined voting power of the securities of the Company or such surviving entity or any parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 30 percent or more of the combined voting power of the Company s then outstanding securities; or

(iv) The stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or disposition by the company of all or substantially all of the Company s assets, other than a sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company s assets to an entity, more than 50 percent of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are owned by stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any Award the payment or settlement of which will accelerate upon a Change of Control provides for a deferral of compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, no event set forth herein shall constitute a Change of Control for purposes of the Plan or any Award Document unless such event also constitutes a change in ownership, change in effective control, or change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company s assets within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable rulings and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Committee means the Compensation Committee of the Board, any successor committee thereto or any other committee appointed from time to time by the Board to administer the Plan, which committee shall meet the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code, Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act and the applicable rules of the Exchange; *provided*, *however*, that, if any Committee member is found not to have met the qualification requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code and Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, any actions taken or Awards granted by the Committee shall not be invalidated by such failure to so qualify.

Common Stock means the common stock of the Company or such other class of share or other securities as may be applicable under Section 14 of the Plan.

Company means Vonage Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation, or any successor to all or substantially all of the Company s business that adopts the Plan.

Effective Date means the effective date of the initial public offering of the Company.

Eligible Persons means the individuals or entities described in Section 4(a) of the Plan who are eligible for Awards under the Plan.

Exchange means the New York Stock Exchange or such other securities exchange or quotation system on which the Company may be listed from time to time.

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Fair Market Value means, with respect to a share of Common Stock, the fair market value thereof as of the relevant date of determination, as determined in accordance with the valuation methodology approved by the Committee. In the absence of any alternative valuation methodology approved by the Committee, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall equal the closing selling price of a share of Common Stock on the trading day for which such valuation is made as reported on the Exchange or such other securities exchange or quotation system as may be designated by the Committee. For any date that is not a trading day, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock for such date will be determined by using the closing sale price for the immediately preceding trading day and with the timing above adjusted accordingly.

A-2

Incentive Stock Option means an Option that is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision thereto.

Non-Employee Director means any member of the Board who is not an officer or employee of the Company or any Subsidiary.

Nonqualified Stock Option means an Option that is not intended to comply with the requirements of Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision thereto.

Option means an Incentive Stock Option or Nonqualified Stock Option granted pursuant to Section 7 of the Plan.

Other Award means any form of Award other than an Option, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit, Stock Appreciation Right, Performance Stock, Performance Unit or Annual Award granted pursuant to Section 12 of the Plan.

Parent means a corporation that owns or beneficially owns a majority of the outstanding voting stock or voting power of the Company. Notwithstanding the above, with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, Parent shall have the meaning set forth in Section 424(e) of the Code.

Participant means an Eligible Person who has been granted an Award under the Plan.

Performance Goal means the performance measures established by the Committee, from among the performance criteria provided in Section 6(h) of the Plan, and set forth in the applicable Award Document.

Performance Period means the period established by the Committee and set forth in the applicable Award Document over which Performance Goals are measured.

Performance Stock means a Target Number of Shares granted pursuant to Section 10(a) of the Plan.

Performance Unit means a right to receive a Target Number of Shares or cash in the future granted pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Plan.

Permitted Transferees means any immediate family member, family trust or other entity established for the benefit of the Participant and/or an immediate family member thereof if, with respect to such proposed transferee, the Company would be eligible to use a Form S-8 for the registration of the sale of the Common Stock subject to such Award under the Securities Act.

Person means any person, entity or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act, except that such term shall not include (i) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any of its Affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company, or (v) a person or group as used in Rule 13d-1(b) under the Exchange Act.

Plan means this Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan, as amended or restated from time to time.

Plan Limit means the maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be issued for all purposes under the Plan as set forth in Section 5(a) of the Plan.

Plan Year means the fiscal year of the Company or, if different, the calendar year, as determined by the Committee.

Prior Plan means the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan of Vonage Holdings Corp.

Restricted Stock means one or more Shares granted or sold pursuant to Section 9(a) of the Plan.

Retirement Plan means the Vonage 401(k) Retirement Plan or any successor thereto.

Restricted Stock Unit means a right to receive one or more Shares (or cash, if applicable) in the future granted pursuant to Section 9(b) of the Plan.

A-3

Table of Contents

Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Shares means shares of Common Stock, as may be adjusted pursuant to Section 14 of the Plan.

Stock Appreciation Right means a right to receive all or some portion of the appreciation on Shares granted pursuant to Section 8 of the Plan.

Subsidiary means a business venture (including, without limitation, joint venture or limited liability company) in which the Company has a controlling interest, as determined by the Board. Notwithstanding the above, with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, Subsidiary shall have the meaning set forth in Section 424(f) of the Code.

Substitute Award means any Award granted upon assumption of, or in substitution or exchange for, outstanding employee equity awards previously granted by a company or other entity acquired by the Company or with which the Company combines pursuant to the terms of an equity compensation plan that was approved by the stockholders of such company or other entity.

Target Number or *Target Payment* means the target number of Shares or cash value established by the Committee and set forth in the applicable Award Document.

(b) Rules of Construction

The masculine pronoun shall be deemed to include the feminine pronoun, and the singular form of a word shall be deemed to include the plural form, unless the context requires otherwise. Unless the text indicates otherwise, references to sections are to sections of the Plan.

3. Administration

(a) Committee

The Plan shall be administered by the Committee, which shall have full power and authority, subject to the express provisions hereof, to:

- (i) select the Participants from the Eligible Persons;
- (ii) grant Awards in accordance with the Plan;
- (iii) determine the number of Shares subject to each Award or the cash amount payable in connection with an Award;
- (iv) determine the terms and conditions of each Award, including, without limitation, those related to term, permissible methods of exercise, vesting, cancellation, payment, settlement, exercisability, Performance Periods, Performance Goals, and the effect, if any, of a Participant s termination of employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, subject to Section 6(d), a Change of Control of the Company;
- (v) subject to Sections 17 and 18(e), amend the terms and conditions of an Award after the granting thereof;
- (vi) specify and approve the provisions of the Award Documents delivered to Participants in connection with their Awards;
- (vii) construe and interpret any Award Document delivered under the Plan;
- (viii) make factual determinations in connection with the administration or interpretation of the Plan;
- (ix) adopt, prescribe, amend, waive and rescind administrative regulations, rules and procedures relating to the Plan;

A-4

Table of Contents

- (x) employ such legal counsel, independent auditors and consultants as it deems desirable for the administration of the Plan and to rely upon any advice, opinion or computation received therefrom;
- (xi) vary the terms of Awards to take account of tax and securities law and other regulatory requirements or to procure favorable tax treatment for Participants;
- (xii) correct any defects, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in any Award Document or the Plan; and
- (xiii) make all other determinations and take any other action desirable or necessary to interpret, construe or implement properly the provisions of the Plan or any Award Document.

(b) Plan Construction and Interpretation

The Committee shall have full power and authority, subject to the express provisions hereof, to construe and interpret the Plan.

(c) Determinations of Committee Final and Binding

All determinations by the Committee in carrying out and administering the Plan and in construing and interpreting the Plan shall be made in the Committee s sole discretion and shall be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes and upon all persons interested herein.

(d) Delegation of Authority

To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Board or the Committee may delegate to a subcommittee or subcommittees of the Committee or to one or more officers of the Company the power to grant Options and other Awards that constitute rights under Delaware law (subject to any limitations under the Plan) to employees or officers of the Company or any of its present or future Affiliates and to exercise such other powers under the Plan as the Board or the Committee may determine, provided that the Board or the Committee shall fix the terms of the Awards to be granted by such officers (including the exercise price of the Awards, which may include a formula by which the exercise price will be determined) and the maximum number of shares subject to such Awards that the officers may grant; provided further, however, that no officer shall be authorized to grant Awards to any executive officer of the Company (as defined by Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act) or to any officer of the Company (as defined by Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act), nor shall such delegation apply to Section 17 of the Plan. The Board may not delegate authority under this Section 3(d) to grant restricted stock, unless Delaware law then permits such delegation. For purposes of the Plan, reference to the Committee shall be deemed to refer to any subcommittee, subcommittees, or other persons or groups of persons to whom the Board or the Committee delegates authority pursuant to this Section 3(d).

(e) Liability of Committee

Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations: (i) no member of the Board or Committee (or its delegates) shall be liable for any good faith action or determination made in connection with the operation, administration or interpretation of the Plan and (ii) the members of the Board or the Committee (and its delegates) shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement in the manner provided in the Company s Certificate of Incorporation as it may be amended from time to time. In the performance of its responsibilities with respect to the Plan, the Committee shall be entitled to rely upon information and/or advice furnished by the Company s officers or employees, the Company s accountants, the Company s counsel and any other party the Committee deems necessary, and no member of the Committee shall be liable for any action taken or not taken in reliance upon any such information and/or advice.

(f) Action by the Board

Anything in the Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, any authority or responsibility that, under the terms of the Plan, may be exercised by the Committee may alternatively be exercised by the Board.

A-5

Table of Contents

4. Eligibility

(a) Eligible Persons

Awards may be granted to officers, employees, directors, Non-Employee Directors, consultants, advisors and independent contractors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or joint ventures, partnerships or business organizations in which the Company or its Subsidiaries have an equity interest; *provided*, *however*, that only employees of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary may be granted Incentive Stock Options. The Committee shall have the authority to select the persons to whom Awards may be granted and to determine the type, number and terms of Awards to be granted to each such Participant. Under the Plan, references to employment or employed include the engagement of Participants who are consultants, advisors and independent contractors of the Company or its Subsidiaries and the service of Participants who are Non-Employee Directors, except for purposes of determining eligibility to be granted Incentive Stock Options.

(b) Grants to Participants

The Committee shall have no obligation to grant any Eligible Person an Award or to designate an Eligible Person as a Participant solely by reason of such Eligible Person having received a prior Award or having been previously designated as a Participant. The Committee may grant more than one Award to a Participant and may designate an Eligible Person as a Participant for overlapping periods of time.

5. Shares Subject to the Plan

(a) <u>Plan Limit</u>. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 14 hereof, the maximum number of Shares available for issuance to Participants pursuant to Awards under the Plan shall be 77,400,000 Shares (the *Plan Limit*). The Shares available for issuance under the Plan may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued Shares or treasury Shares.

(b) Rules Applicable to Determining Shares Available for Issuance

The number of Shares remaining available for issuance will be reduced by the number of Shares subject to outstanding Awards and, for Awards that are not denominated by Shares, by the number of Shares actually delivered upon settlement or payment of the Award. For purposes of determining the number of Shares that remain available for issuance under the Plan, (i) the number of Shares that are tendered by a Participant or withheld by the Company to pay the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy the Participant s tax withholding obligations in connection with the exercise or settlement of an Award and (ii) all of the Shares covered by a stock-settled Stock Appreciation Right, to the extent exercised, will not be added back to the Plan Limit. In addition, for purposes of determining the number of Shares that remain available for issuance under the Plan, the number of Shares corresponding to Awards under the Plan that are forfeited or cancelled or otherwise expire for any reason without having been exercised or settled or that is settled through issuance of consideration other than Shares (including, without limitation, cash) shall be added back to the Plan Limit and again be available for the grant of Awards; *provided*, *however*, that this provision shall not be applicable with respect to (i) the cancellation of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option upon the exercise of the Option or (ii) the cancellation of an Option granted in tandem with a Stock Appreciation Right upon the exercise of the Stock Appreciation.

(c) Special Limits

Anything to the contrary in Section 5(a) notwithstanding, but subject to adjustment under Section 14, the following special limits shall apply to Shares available for Awards under the Plan:

(i) the maximum number of Shares that may be issued pursuant to awards of Incentive Stock Options shall equal 20,000,000 Shares subject to Section 14 hereof and the provisions of Sections 422 or 424 of the Code and any successor provisions;

A-6

Table of Contents

- (ii) the maximum number of Shares that may be issued pursuant to Options and Stock Appreciation Rights granted to any Eligible Person in any calendar year shall equal 10,000,000 Shares;
- (iii) the maximum amount that may be paid pursuant to Annual Awards granted to any Eligible Person in any calendar year is \$5,000,000; and
- (iv) the maximum amount that may be paid and the maximum number of Shares that may be issued pursuant to Awards (other than those Awards set forth in Section 5(c)(ii) and 5(c)(iii) that may be awarded to any Eligible Person in any calendar year is \$10,000,000 (with respect to Awards denominated in cash) or 10,000,000 Shares (with respect to Awards denominated in Shares).
- (d) Any Shares underlying Substitute Awards shall not be counted against the number of Shares remaining for issuance and shall not be subject to Section 5(c).

6. Awards in General

(a) Types of Awards

Awards under the Plan may consist of Options, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Stock Appreciation Rights, Performance Stock, Performance Units, Annual Awards and Other Awards. Any Award described in Sections 7 through 12 may be granted singly or in combination or tandem with any other Award, as the Committee may determine. Awards under the Plan may be made in combination with, in replacement of, or as alternatives to awards or rights under any other compensation or benefit plan of the Company, including the plan of any acquired entity.

(b) Terms Set Forth in Award Document

The terms and conditions of each Award shall be set forth in an Award Document in a form approved by the Committee for such Award, which Award Document shall contain terms and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject to applicable laws, the Committee may accelerate (i) the vesting or payment of any Award, (ii) the lapse of restrictions on any Award or (iii) the date on which any Award first becomes exercisable. The terms of Awards may vary among Participants, and the Plan does not impose upon the Committee any requirement to make Awards subject to uniform terms. Accordingly, the terms of individual Award Documents may vary.

(c) Termination of Employment

The Committee shall specify at or after the time of grant of an Award the provisions governing the disposition of an Award in the event of a Participant s termination of employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in connection with a Participant s termination of employment, the Committee shall have the discretion to accelerate the vesting, exercisability or settlement of, eliminate the restrictions and conditions applicable to, or extend the post-termination exercise period of an outstanding Award. Such provisions may be specified in the applicable Award Document or determined at a subsequent time.

(d) Change of Control

(i) The Committee shall have full authority to determine the effect, if any, of a Change of Control of the Company or any Subsidiary on the vesting, exercisability, settlement, payment or lapse of restrictions applicable to an Award, which effect may be specified in the applicable Award Document or determined at a subsequent time. Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Board or the Committee shall, at any time prior to, coincident with or after the effective time of a Change of Control, take such actions as it may consider

A-7

Table of Contents

appropriate, including, without limitation: (A) providing for the acceleration of any vesting conditions relating to the exercise or settlement of an Award or that an Award shall terminate or expire unless exercised or settled in full on or before a date fixed by the Committee; (B) making such adjustments to the Awards then outstanding as the Committee deems appropriate to reflect such Change of Control; (C) causing the Awards then outstanding to be assumed, or new rights substituted therefor, by the surviving corporation in such Change of Control; or (D) permitting or requiring Participants to surrender outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights in exchange for a cash payment equal to the difference between the highest price paid for a Share in the Change of Control transaction and the Exercise Price of the Award, which may be zero dollars.

- (ii) Subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Committee may provide, in an Award Document or subsequent to the grant of an Award, for the accelerated vesting, exercisability and/or the deemed attainment of a Performance Goal with respect to an Award upon specified events similar to a Change of Control.
- (iii) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or any Award Document, the provisions of this Section 6(d) may not be terminated, amended, or modified upon or after a Change of Control in a manner that would adversely affect a Participant s rights with respect to an outstanding Award without the prior written consent of the Participant. Subject to Section 17, the Board, upon recommendation of the Committee, may terminate, amend or modify this Section 6(d) at any time and from time to time prior to a Change of Control.

(e) Dividends and Dividend Equivalents

The Committee may provide Participants with the right to receive dividends or payments equivalent to dividends or interest with respect to an outstanding Award, which payments can either be paid currently or deemed to have been reinvested in Shares, and can be made in Shares, cash or a combination thereof, as the Committee shall determine; *provided*, *however*, that the terms of any reinvestment of dividends must comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, including, without limitation, Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no dividends or dividend equivalents shall be paid with respect to Options or Stock Appreciation Rights.

(f) Fractional Shares

No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to any Award under the Plan. The Committee shall determine whether cash, Awards, or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of fractional Shares, or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliminated.

(g) Rights of a Stockholder

A Participant shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to Shares covered by an Award (including voting rights) until the date the Participant or his nominee becomes the holder of record of such Shares. No adjustment shall be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to such date, except as provided in Section 14.

(h) Performance-Based Awards

(i) The Committee may determine whether any Award under the Plan is intended to be performance-based compensation as that term is used in Section 162(m) of the Code. Any such Awards designated to be performance-based compensation shall be conditioned on the achievement of one or more Performance Goals to the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code and will be subject to all other conditions and requirements of Section 162(m). The Performance Goals will be comprised of specified levels of one or more of the following performance measures as the Committee deems appropriate: net earnings, net income, or adjusted operating profit or loss (each before or after taxes); earnings per share; book value per share; costs; net sales or revenue growth; net operating profit; return measures (including, but not limited to, return on assets, investment, capital, equity, sales, revenue, telephony services revenue, or adjusted average

A-8

monthly revenue per line); cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow return on equity, cash flow return on investment, and pre-marketing operating income per line); adjusted earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, and/or amortization; gross or operating margins; productivity ratios; profitability of an identifiable business unit or product; share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total shareholder return); expense targets (including, but not limited to, subscriber line acquisition cost and average monthly direct costs of telephony services per line); margins; operating efficiency (including, without limitation, improvements in capital structure); market share; customer satisfaction (including, but not limited to, new subscriptions, lost subscriptions, and relations between the two); net subscriber line additions; working capital targets; cash value added; economic value added; market penetration; product introductions; platform availability; staff training; and corporate social responsibility policy implementation, in each case determined, where applicable, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (subject to modifications approved by the Committee) consistently applied on a business unit, divisional, subsidiary or consolidated basis or any combination thereof. The Performance Goals may be described in terms of objectives that are related to the individual Participant or objectives that are Company-wide or related to a Subsidiary, division, department, region, function or business unit and may be measured on an absolute or cumulative basis or on the basis of percentage of improvement over time, and may be measured in terms of Company performance (or performance of the applicable Subsidiary, division, department, region, function or business unit) or measured relative to selected peer companies or a market or other index. Subject to compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee may adjust the Performance Goals (including, without limitation, to prorate goals and payments for a partial Plan Year) in the event of the following occurrences: (i) non-recurring events, including divestitures, spin-offs, or changes in accounting standards or policies, (ii) mergers and acquisitions, and (iii) financing transactions. In addition, for Awards not intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee may establish Performance Goals based on other criteria as it deems appropriate.

- (ii) The Participants will be designated, and the applicable Performance Goals will be established, by the Committee within 90 days following the commencement of the applicable Performance Period (or such earlier or later date permitted or required by Section 162(m) of the Code). The outcome of the applicable Performance Goals must be substantially uncertain when the Committee establishes such Performance Goals. Each Participant will be assigned a Target Number or Target Payment payable if Performance Goals are achieved. Any payment of an Award granted with Performance Goals shall be conditioned on the written certification of the Committee in each case that the Performance Goals and any other material conditions were satisfied.
- (iii) The Committee may determine, at the time of Award grant, that if performance exceeds the specified Performance Goals, the Award may be settled with payment greater than the Target Number or Target Payment, up to a maximum Award amount set at the time of the Award grant, which maximum Award shall in no event exceed the limits set forth in Section 5(c). Awards that are designed to constitute qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code may not be adjusted upward. The Committee shall retain the discretion to adjust such Awards downward, either on a formula or discretionary basis or any combination thereof, as the Committee determines.

(i) Deferrals

In accordance with the procedures authorized by, and subject to the approval of, the Committee, Participants may be given the opportunity to defer the payment or settlement of an Award to one or more dates selected by the Participant; *provided*, *however*, that the terms of any deferrals must comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, including, without limitation, Section 409A of the Code. No deferral opportunity shall exist with respect to an Award unless explicitly permitted by the Committee on or after the time of grant.

A-9

Table of Contents

(j) Repricing of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, an Option or Stock Appreciation Right shall not be granted in substitution for a previously granted Option or Stock Appreciation Right being canceled or surrendered as a condition of receiving a new Award, if the new Award would have a lower exercise price than the Award it replaces, nor shall the exercise price of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right be reduced once the Option or Stock Appreciation Right is granted. The foregoing shall not (i) prevent adjustments pursuant to Section 14 or (ii) apply to grants of Substitute Awards.

7. Terms and Conditions of Options

(a) General

The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Options to Eligible Persons and shall determine whether such Options shall be Incentive Stock Options or Nonqualified Stock Options. Each Option shall be evidenced by an Award Document that shall expressly identify the Option as an Incentive Stock Option or Nonqualified Stock Option, and be in such form and contain such provisions as the Committee shall from time to time deem appropriate.

(b) Exercise Price

The exercise price of an Option shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant or shall be determined by a method specified by the Committee at the time of grant. In no event shall the exercise price of an Option be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant; *provided*, *however* that the exercise price of a Substitute Award granted as an Option shall be determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and may be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value.

(c) Term

An Option shall be effective for such term as shall be determined by the Committee and as set forth in the Award Document relating to such Option, and the Committee may extend the term of an Option after the time of grant; *provided*, *however*, that the term of an Option may in no event extend beyond the tenth anniversary of the date of grant of such Option.

(d) Exercise; Payment of Exercise Price

Options shall be exercised by delivery of a notice of exercise in a form approved by the Company. Subject to the provisions of the applicable Award Document, the exercise price of an Option may be paid (i) in cash or cash equivalents, (ii) by actual delivery or attestation to ownership of freely transferable Shares already owned by the person exercising the Option, (iii) by a combination of cash and Shares equal in value to the exercise price, (iv) through net share settlement or similar procedure involving the withholding of Shares subject to the Option with a value equal to the exercise price or (v) by such other means as the Committee may authorize.

(e) Incentive Stock Options

The exercise price per Share of an Incentive Stock Option shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant or shall be determined by a method specified by the Committee at the time of grant, but in no event shall the exercise price of an Incentive Stock Option be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant. No Incentive Stock Option may be issued pursuant to the Plan to any individual who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock possessing more than ten percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, unless (i) the exercise price determined as of the date of grant is at least 110 percent of the Fair Market Value on the date of grant of the Shares subject to such Incentive Stock Option and (ii) the Incentive Stock Option is not exercisable more than

A-10

five years from the date of grant thereof. No Participant shall be granted any Incentive Stock Option that would result in such Participant receiving a grant of Incentive Stock Options that would have an aggregate Fair Market Value in excess of \$100,000, determined as of the time of grant, and that would be exercisable for the first time by such Participant during any calendar year. No Incentive Stock Option may be granted under the Plan after the tenth anniversary of the date on which the Plan is adopted by the Board. The terms of any Incentive Stock Option granted under the Plan shall comply in all respects with the provisions of Section 422 of the Code, or any successor provision thereto, as amended from time to time. Any Option that is intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option and fails to do so shall be a Nonqualified Stock Option.

8. Terms and Conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights

(a) General

The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Stock Appreciation Rights to Eligible Persons. A Stock Appreciation Right shall entitle a Participant to receive, upon satisfaction of the conditions to payment specified in the applicable Award Document, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of the number of Shares for which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised over the grant price for such Stock Appreciation Right specified in the applicable Award Document. The grant price per share of Shares covered by a Stock Appreciation Right shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant or, alternatively, shall be determined by a method specified by the Committee at the time of grant, but in no event shall the grant price of a Stock Appreciation Right be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant; *provided*, *however*, that the grant price of a Substitute Award granted as a Stock Appreciation Rights shall be in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and may be less than 100 percent of the Fair Market Value. Payments to a Participant upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right may be made in cash or Shares, having an aggregate Fair Market Value as of the date of exercise equal to the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of the number of Shares for which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised over the grant price for such Stock Appreciation Right. The term of a Stock Appreciation Right settled in Shares shall not exceed ten years.

(b) Stock Appreciation Rights in Tandem with Options

A Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option may be granted either at the same time as such Option or subsequent thereto. If granted in tandem with an Option, a Stock Appreciation Right shall cover the same number of Shares as covered by the Option (or such lesser number of shares as the Committee may determine) and shall be exercisable only at such time or times and to the extent the related Option shall be exercisable, and shall have the same term as the related Option. The grant price of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option shall equal the per-share exercise price of the Option to which it relates. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in tandem with an Option, the related Option shall be canceled automatically to the extent of the number of Shares covered by such exercise; conversely, if the related Option is exercised as to some or all of the shares covered by the tandem grant, the tandem Stock Appreciation Right shall be canceled automatically to the extent of the number of Shares covered by the Option exercise.

9. Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

(a) Restricted Stock

The Committee, in its discretion, may grant or sell Restricted Stock to Eligible Persons. An Award of Restricted Stock shall consist of one or more Shares granted or sold to an Eligible Person, and shall be subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and established by the Committee in connection with the Award and specified in the applicable Award Document. Restricted Stock may, among other things, be subject to restrictions on transferability, vesting requirements or other specified circumstances under which it may be canceled.

A-11

(b) Restricted Stock Units

The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Restricted Stock Units to Eligible Persons. A Restricted Stock Unit shall entitle a Participant to receive, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and the applicable Award Document, one or more Shares or, at the sole discretion of the Committee, cash, or a combination of cash and Shares, with a value equal to the Fair Market Value of the Shares at the time of payment. Restricted Stock Units may, among other things, be subject to restrictions on transferability, vesting requirements or other specified circumstances under which they may be canceled or settled. If and when the cancellation provisions lapse, the Restricted Stock Units shall become Shares owned by the applicable Participant.

10. Terms and Conditions of Performance Stock and Performance Units

(a) Performance Stock

The Committee may grant Performance Stock to Eligible Persons. An Award of Performance Stock shall consist of a Target Number of Shares granted to an Eligible Person subject to achievement of Performance Goals over the applicable Performance Period, and shall be subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and established by the Committee in connection with the Award and specified in the applicable Award Document.

(b) Performance Units

The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Performance Units to Eligible Persons. A Performance Unit shall entitle a Participant to receive, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and established by the Committee in connection with the Award and specified in the applicable Award Document, a number of Shares or cash based on the Target Number or Target Payment, but which may vary above or below the Target Number or Target Payment (subject, in the case of Awards intended to constitute—qualified performance-based compensation, to Section 6(h)(iii)), and the level of achievement of the Performance Goals under the Award over the applicable Performance Period. At the sole discretion of the Committee, Performance Units shall be settled through the delivery of Shares or cash, or a combination of Shares and cash, with a value equal to the Fair Market Value of the underlying Shares as of the date of such delivery (or, if the Committee so determines, as of the preceding trading date).

11. Terms and Conditions of Annual Awards

The Committee, in its discretion, may grant Annual Awards to Eligible Persons with respect to a Plan Year. An Annual Award shall entitle a Participant to receive, subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan and established by the Committee in connection with the Award and specified in the applicable Award Document, payment of an amount based on the Target Payment, but which may vary above or below the Target Payment (subject, in the case of Awards intended to constitute qualified performance-based compensation, to Section 6(h)(iii)), and the level of achievement of the Performance Goals under the Award over the applicable Plan Year. At the sole discretion of the Committee, Annual Awards shall be settled through the delivery of cash or Shares, or a combination of cash and Shares, with the value of any Shares deemed to be equal to their Fair Market Value as of the date of such delivery (or, if the Committee so determines, as of the preceding trading date).

12. Other Awards

The Committee shall have the authority to specify the terms and provisions of other forms of equity-based or equity-related Awards not described above that the Committee determines to be consistent with the purpose of the Plan and the interests of the Company, which Awards may provide for cash payments based in whole or in part on the value or future value of Shares, for the acquisition or future acquisition of Shares, or any combination thereof.

A-12

Table of Contents

13. Certain Restrictions

(a) Transfers

No Award shall be transferable other than pursuant to a beneficiary designation under Section 13(c), by last will and testament or by the laws of descent and distribution or, except in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, pursuant to a domestic relations order, as the case may be; *provided*, *however*, that the Committee may, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations and such terms and conditions as it shall specify, permit the transfer of an Award, other than an Incentive Stock Option, for no consideration to a Permitted Transferee. Any Award transferred to a Permitted Transferee shall be further transferable only by last will and testament or the laws of descent and distribution or, for no consideration, to another Permitted Transferee of the Participant.

(b) Award Exercisable Only by Participant

During the lifetime of a Participant, an Award shall be exercisable only by the Participant or by a Permitted Transferee to whom such Award has been transferred in accordance with Section 13(a). The grant of an Award shall impose no obligation on a Participant to exercise or settle the Award.

(c) Beneficiary Designation

The beneficiary or beneficiaries of the Participant to whom any benefit under the Plan is to be paid in case of his death before he receives any or all of such benefit shall be determined under the Retirement Plan. In lieu of such determination, a Participant may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries to receive any benefit in case of his death before he receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all prior designations by the same Participant and will be effective only when filed by the Participant in writing (in such form or manner as may be prescribed by the Committee) with the Company during the Participant s lifetime. In the absence of a valid designation under the Retirement Plan or as provided above, if no validly designated beneficiary survives the Participant or if each surviving validly designated beneficiary is legally impaired or prohibited from receiving the benefits under an Award, the Participant s beneficiary shall be the Participant s estate.

14. Recapitalization or Reorganization

(a) Authority of the Company and Stockholders

The existence of the Plan, the Award Documents and the Awards granted hereunder shall not affect or restrict in any way the right or power of the Company or the stockholders of the Company to make or authorize any adjustment, recapitalization, reorganization or other change in the Company s capital structure or business, any merger or consolidation of the Company, any issue of stock or of options, warrants or rights to purchase stock or of bonds, debentures, preferred or prior preference stocks whose rights are superior to or affect the Shares or the rights thereof or which are convertible into or exchangeable for Shares, or the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a similar character or otherwise.

(b) Change in Capitalization

In the event of any corporate event or transaction involving the Company, a Subsidiary and/or an Affiliate (including, but not limited to, a change in the Shares of the Company or the capitalization of the Company) such as a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, separation, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, spin-off, combination of Shares, exchange of Shares, dividend in kind, or other like change in capital structure (other than ordinary cash dividends to shareholders of the Company), or any similar corporate event or transaction, the Committee, to prevent dilution or enlargement of Participants rights under the Plan,

A-13

Table of Contents

shall substitute or adjust, in its sole discretion, the number and kind of Shares or other property that may be issued under the Plan or under particular forms of Awards, the number and kind of Shares or other property subject to outstanding Awards, the option exercise price, grant price or purchase price applicable to outstanding Awards, the special limits or sub-limits provided for in Section 5(c), and/or other value determinations applicable to the Plan or outstanding Awards.

15. Term of the Plan

Unless earlier terminated pursuant to Section 17, the Plan shall terminate on the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date, except with respect to Awards then outstanding. No Awards may be granted under the Plan after the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date.

16. Effective Date

The Plan shall become effective on the Effective Date, subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company prior thereto.